

Kia pounamu te rongo

An exploration of key contextual factors that influence child and youth mental health and substance use in Aotearoa New Zealand

Published report in April 2025 by Te Pou

Te Pou is a national centre of evidence-informed workforce development for the mental health and addiction sectors in New Zealand.

PO Box 108-244, Symonds St, Auckland, New Zealand

ISBN 978-1-7386134-1-0

Web: www.tepou.co.nz

Email: info@tepou.co.nz

Recommended citation:

Te Pou. (2025). Kia pounamu te rongo: An exploration of key contextual factors that influence child and youth mental health and substance use in Aotearoa New Zealand. Te Pou

2

Acknowledgements

This report was written by Te Pou in partnership with experts from cultural and lived experience perspectives. The authors of this report are Jennifer Lai, Drs Helen Lockett and Angela Jury, with support from Ruth Choudharey.

This report builds on an earlier Te Pou (2023) review on the social determinants of mental health challenges and problematic substance use.

Expert input was provided by Selina Elkington, Kahurangi Fergusson-Tibble, Amanda Luckman, and Abigail McDonald from Te Pou.

We also thank and acknowledge the guidance, advice, and peer review by:

Dr Ben Fletcher; Growing Up in New Zealand, University of Auckland

Madeline Hayward; Koi Tū: The Centre for Informed Futures, University of Auckland

Dr Tai Kake; University of Auckland

Alex Ker; InsideOUT Kōaro

Dr Mary Silcock; Manatū Hauora

Kia Pounamu te Rongo

Dr Tai Kake gifted the te reo Māori name of this report 'Kia pounamu te rongo' and found inspiration by the whānau at Mana Mokopuna – Children and Young People's Commission.

Self-care note

This report includes research about contextual factors, including those that promote mental health and wellbeing and those that can have detrimental and harmful influences on children and young people. This includes physical, sexual, and emotional abuse, neglect, family violence, thoughts of suicide, self-harming, and other adverse and traumatic life experiences. If you or your whānau are struggling with any of these issues, please consider if reading this report is right for you at this time.

The report also examines and discusses the likelihood of experiencing these factors and their later impact. While contextual factors may increase the average risk of mental health challenges or problematic substance use in the population, this outcome is not inevitable for individual people.

If you need to talk to someone, free text or call 1737 any time for support from a trained counsellor or peer support worker.

Foreword

In September 2024, the Minister for Mental Health Matt Doocey announced funding for the first study into the prevalence of mental health conditions and addiction in children and youth, with \$2 million per annum made available on an ongoing basis for prevalence studies.

Over the last three years, Te Pou has worked with many others to build impetus for a series of interconnected mental health and addiction epidemiological studies to provide more up-to-date and robust information, starting with children and young people.

The funding announcement is a major milestone for all those involved. It is a fantastic example of what can happen when organisations collaborate. A large-scale population study will make a substantive difference to helping ensure the right services and supports are available for children, young people, and whānau.

As well as calling for investment in prevalence studies, Te Pou has undertaken technical scoping work to support the design of future studies. We recommend that studies use a core set of common measures and focus on gathering information in three key areas using a whānau approach:

- quantifying need (peoples' experiences)
- quantifying unmet need (the services, supports, and cultural resources gap)
- measuring contextual influences, including protective factors.

Measuring contextual factors is crucial so that patterns with prevalence rates and access to supports and services can be identified. It also means the drivers of mental health challenges and problematic substance use for children and young people can be better understood. Building in measures for, and the time to analyse, contextual factors will support the focus on prevention and early intervention – an emphasis that government and non-government stakeholders continue to highlight as important.

This narrative review offers insights into 10 key contextual factors, as a starting point for the design thinking needed on the inclusion of contextual factors in prevalence studies for children and young people.

Further review and stakeholder consultation is crucial for determining which contextual factors are a priority to examine. Most importantly, the voices of children and young people, of tamariki and rangatahi, and particularly those who are often misrepresented or misunderstood, are vital in informing the design of the prevalence study.

Te Pou will continue to support this important research. This knowledge is crucial to improving outcomes for children, young people and whānau.

Ngā mihi

Rae Lamb (Chief Executive Te Pou and Blueprint)

Contents

Acknowledgements	3
Foreword	4
Executive summary	6
Background	11
Aim and objectives	13
Method	13
Key findings	15
1. Adverse childhood experiences	16
2. Bullying	21
3. Cultural and social identity	23
4. Experiences of racism and other forms of discrimination	28
5. Whānau environment	32
6. Peer relationships, connectedness, and loneliness	36
7. Engagement with school and work	38
8. Social media and technology	41
9. Socioeconomic factors	44
10. Substance use	46
Discussion	49
Key findings	49
Gaps in the literature	50
Limitations	51
Next steps	53
Conclusion	53
Appendix: Preliminary scan	55
References	58

Executive summary

The early stages of life are crucial for health promotion and strengthening protective factors, alongside recognising potential risk factors for mental health challenges and problematic substance use (McGorry et al., 2024). For Māori, the focus on tamariki and rangatahi is a foundational cultural value, an acknowledgement of whakapapa, and an expression of aroha.

To support a greater focus on promotion, prevention, and early intervention across the life course, particularly in the child and adolescent years, the Government's investment in the first ever child and youth mental health and addiction prevalence study in Aotearoa needs to include the measurement of a range of contextual factors (Ministry of Health, 2024b).

Contextual factors encompass a broad range of social, cultural, economic, historical, and environmental influences on mental health, substance use and wellbeing, which are often referred to as risk and protective factors. The inclusion of contextual factors will help to better understand population-level trends, drivers, and inequities in child and youth mental health and substance use. Developing a deeper understanding of the role of contextual factors is vital for planning, targeting and resourcing preventative, holistic, and multi-sector strategies to improve child and youth mental health and addiction, and address inequities (Fleming et al., 2024; Office of the Auditor-General, 2024).

There are many interrelated and interacting factors within the wider context of peoples' lives. This narrative review identifies and describes 10 key contextual influences (including protective factors) that could be considered as part of the child and youth mental health and addiction prevalence study. The information in this review may also help policymakers and practitioners focused on primary prevention and early intervention.

Review method

This review builds on two earlier reports. Te Pou recently conducted a review of the social determinants of mental health and substance use with a focus on adults (Te Pou, 2023). Koi Tū also reviewed factors influencing youth mental health (Stubbing, Rihari, et al., 2023; Stubbing, Simon-Kumar, et al., 2023). This review further explores the key influences on children and young peoples' mental health and substance use.

This review included two stages. A preliminary scan identified 10 contextual factors that were 1) emphasised by young people, 2) frequently reported in the published literature, and 3) shown to have a relatively strong impact on mental health and substance use among children and young people (see Table 1 and Appendix: Preliminary scan).

¹ For the purposes of this review, children or tamariki are aged 0 to 14 years and youth or young people are aged 15 to 24 years. There is overlap with the term 'adolescents' or rangatahi which often include those aged 13 to 19 years.

Table 1. The 10 contextual factors explored in this review that influence child and youth mental health challenges and problematic substance use

Contextual factors explored in this review

- 1) Adverse childhood experiences (including childhood maltreatment)
- 2) Bullying
- 3) Cultural and social identity
- 4) Experiences of racism and other forms of discrimination
- 5) Whānau environment
- 6) Peer relationships, connectedness, and loneliness
- 7) Engagement with school and work
- 8) Social media and technology
- 9) Socioeconomic factors
- 10) Substance use

A narrative literature review was then undertaken for each individual factor. This brings together local and international data and research on how each factor has been defined in research, and how influential and widespread each factor is within Aotearoa.

Key findings

Based on local and international literature, findings indicate the biggest negative influences on mental health and substance use of children and young people are:

- childhood maltreatment
- multiple childhood adversities
- involvement in bullying
- experiences of discrimination and racism
- a lack of engagement in employment, education or training.

Findings highlight how these contextual factors disproportionately impact children and young people, with some populations experiencing much greater impacts than others.

Childhood maltreatment, particularly sexual and physical abuse, is a major concern. In Aotearoa, young people who have experienced childhood sexual abuse are up to 8 times more likely to experience depression, nearly 5 times more likely to experience anxiety, and up to 5 times more likely to experience problematic substance use (Fergusson et al., 1996). Moreover, the negative influences of childhood maltreatment can persist into adulthood (Fergusson, McLeod, et al., 2013; Lindert et al., 2014; Telfar et al., 2023).

Aotearoa has one of the highest rates of bullying in the OECD. Estimates are that 1 in 3 primary or secondary school students are bullied on a monthly basis (Kljakovic et al., 2015; Mhuru & Ministry of Education, 2021). Bullying victimisation can have a moderate to large impact on developing mental health challenges and problematic substance use (Coggan et al., 2003; Li et al., 2022; Raskauskas, 2009).

From a preventative and strengths-based perspective, protective factors are important to measure to understand what promotes mental health and wellbeing among children and young people. Positive relationships with parents and peers, strong cultural identity, and positive experiences with school all have protective influences (Evans et al., 2023; Fletcher et al., 2023; Stats NZ, 2022a, 2022c; Tait et al., 2023). Such protective factors can contribute to healthy development, prevention, and early intervention for all children and young people, regardless of whether they meet diagnostic criteria for addiction or mental health conditions.

Some population groups are often more impacted by contextual factors than others. This includes children and young people who are Māori, Pasifika, from migrant and refugee backgrounds, identify as rainbow,² living with a disability, living in poverty, or involved with the youth justice system or Oranga Tamariki. Multiple forms of inequality or disadvantage can also intersect and compound to impact peoples' mental health and wellbeing. For example, 1 in 10 young people experience racism every year, and this is more commonly reported by Māori, Pasifika and Asian youth (Crengle et al., 2012; Harris et al., 2024). Bullying and harassment affects 1 in 2 rainbow youth in secondary school and 1 in 4 at university (Treharne et al., 2016; Webber & McGregor, 2019). Forty percent of disabled people report experiencing discrimination each year, and disabled children and youth often report experiencing discrimination in healthcare and education settings (UNICEF, 2021).

A better understanding of both positive and negative influences is vital to target preventative supports and services for priority population groups and reduce the prevalence of mental health challenges and problematic substance use for children and young people, and address health inequities. For example, a strong sense of cultural identity reduces the risk of depression, contributes to improved wellbeing and adaptive coping over time, and buffers against the detrimental effects of discrimination.

There are a range of contextual factors that are becoming more widespread and visible over time which may be exerting a greater influence on trends in population prevalence rates than understood from previous research. These factors include, but are not limited to, youth vaping, family harm,³ unwanted sexual experiences, loneliness, household food insecurity, social media, school withdrawal, and unemployment (Ball, Crossin, et al., 2022; Education Counts, 2024a; Fleming et al., 2021; Ministry of Health, 2024a; New Zealand Family Violence Clearinghouse, n.d.; New Zealand Police, 2024).

² Rainbow or LGBTQIA+ refer to people with diverse sexualities, gender identities and expressions, and/or intersex variations.

³ The New Zealand Police (2024) defines family harm as "a holistic view of issues occurring within a family, and their ongoing detrimental effects. This reflects the many intersecting stressors that can contribute to family harm, including poverty, housing instability, mental illness, and substance issues".

Limitations and research gaps

One limitation of this review is the focus on well researched contextual factors included in review studies.⁴ This focus potentially omits new and emerging areas that are bringing large social changes that children and young people are needing to respond to. This includes emerging areas like climate anxiety, intergenerational inequality, sociopolitical changes, the ongoing effects of the COVID-19 pandemic and lockdowns, and increasing access and exposure to pornography, and other potentially harmful internet content.

The criteria for inclusion of contextual factors in this review was guided by research highlighting the views of young people on important influences for them, as well as international reviews. Important factors for tamariki and rangatahi Māori and young people with lived experiences of mental health challenges and problematic substance use in Aotearoa are however likely missed.

This review identifies some local research gaps in understanding contextual factors. In some areas we rely heavily on overseas research, especially for emerging factors, to anticipate their potential influence on child and youth mental health and substance use. For example, vaping and the use of social media and digital technology (like screen time). Whilst we know how widespread the use of vaping, social media, and technology are in Aotearoa, the extent of their influence on child and youth mental health, substance use, and wellbeing is yet to be thoroughly examined.

Other potential areas needing more research include whānau wellbeing, cultural identity, loneliness, school connectedness, and discrimination experienced by rainbow and disabled children and youth in particular. These research gaps have implications for the prevalence study, routine national surveys, and longitudinal studies.

Recommendations

We recognise it is not feasible to include all contextual factors in the first child and youth mental health and addiction prevalence study. Hence, there needs to be a clear rationale for prioritising those included. It is also crucial that sufficient resourcing enables the time and expertise needed to analyse the data gathered. Key aspects that need to be considered when prioritising and determining which contextual factors to include in the prevalence study include stakeholder priorities (including lived experience and cultural perspectives), health inequities, existing information about the factor's influence and spread, and current research gaps.

The voices of children and young people and their unique experiences and challenges of growing up are vital to informing the design of the first mental health and addiction prevalence study in Aotearoa (Fleming et al., 2020; Stubbing & Gibson, 2019, 2021).

⁴ Refer to the Appendix for the inclusion criteria for stage one of the review.

To help make decisions on which factors to include in the prevalence study, and to address key research gaps, the following next steps are recommended.

- Collaboration is crucial for designing a prevalence study. Further consultation with children and young people about the drivers (positive and negative, from their perspectives) of mental health and addiction is recommended. This needs to include a particular focus on the views and experiences of priority groups who are frequently misrepresented or misunderstood. A child and youth advisory group needs to be established to inform the design and implementation of the prevalence study, working in partnership with a diversity of lived experience, whānau, Māori, Pacific, Asian, disabled and rainbow communities, and clinical and academic experts.
- Explore opportunities to examine contextual factors through existing national studies
 or surveys and identify opportunities where existing studies or surveys could be
 utilised to help fill research gaps. Also explore the potential for existing data sources
 to be linked with the child and youth prevalence study.
- Review child and youth mental health and addiction epidemiological studies currently being conducted overseas and the contextual factors that have been, or are planned to be, measured. Examine processes used to select these contextual factors, as well as the constructs and measures used to collect data about contextual factors.
- Ahead of the child and youth prevalence study, consider undertaking a feasibility study to test the measures for contextual factors to examine the relevance and utility for Aotearoa.

Background

Childhood, adolescence, and young adulthood (ages 0 to 24)⁵ are important times for health promotion and strengthening protective factors, alongside recognising and reducing potential risks for mental health challenges and problematic substance use (McGorry et al., 2024). The onset of mental health challenges tends to peak in late adolescence and early adulthood (Solmi et al., 2022). Mental health challenges during childhood and adolescence can have long-term impacts across life stages (Fergusson & Horwood, 2001; McGorry et al., 2024).

In Aotearoa, children and young people (tamariki and rangatahi) make up about one-third of the population (31 percent were aged 0 to 24 years in 2024) (Infometrics, 2024; Stats NZ, 2024b). Whilst the total population is aging (median age is 38 years), the Māori and Pasifika populations are youthful with a large proportion of people aged under 25 years (median ages are 27 and 25 years respectively) (Infometrics, 2024).

Ethnicity among children and young people is increasingly diverse. Around one-third of children at age 12 identify with more than one ethnicity (Neumann et al., 2023). Among children aged 0 to 14 years, 29 percent identify as Māori, 30 percent as Pacific, and 21 percent as Asian (Infometrics, 2024). Approximately 1 to 2 percent of children at age 12 identify as Middle Eastern, Latin American, or African (MELAA) (Neumann et al., 2023).

The Government is investing in the first ever child and youth mental health and addiction prevalence study in Aotearoa (Ministry of Health, 2024b). This research comes at a critical time as we observe significant changes in symptoms of mental health challenges and substance use among children and youth (McGorry et al., 2024; Menzies et al., 2020; Sutcliffe et al., 2023). Symptoms of depression among secondary school students in Aotearoa have increased from 13 to 23 percent between 2012 and 2019, and the observed increases have been greater for rangatahi Māori, Pasifika, and Asian students and those living in lower socioeconomic neighbourhoods (Clark, Ball, et al., 2022; Sutcliffe et al., 2023). In 2019, 28 percent of rangatahi Māori reported symptoms of depression, highlighting the need to address mental health inequities for Māori (Clark, Ball, et al., 2022).

It is imperative to investigate the reasons behind the rapid changes in child and youth mental health (Menzies et al., 2020; Office of the Auditor-General, 2024). This involves identifying the leading risk and protective factors that influence mental health and addiction. Such

⁵ Definitions of child and youth vary across the literature. For the purposes of this review, children are aged 0 to 14 years and youth are aged 15 to 24 years. There is overlap with the term 'adolescents' which often include those aged 13 to 19 years.

⁶ Population estimates based on Stats NZ's 2023 Census and 2024 Estimated Resident Population (ERP) which estimates the number of people who usually live in an area at a given date. Where there are reporting gaps for the child and youth population, we have used estimates from the Growing Up in New Zealand and Youth2000 studies.

⁷ Changes in child and youth mental health in Aotearoa were observed through brief screening tools. Findings from Sutcliffe and colleagues (2023) were based on the Reynolds Adolescent Depression Scale (RADS-SF).

information is essential for planning and resourcing, particularly for preventative, holistic, multi-sectoral, and targeted strategies to improve child and youth mental health and reduce inequities (Fleming et al., 2024; Office of the Auditor-General, 2024). The importance of identifying protective contextual factors becomes increasingly important to improve the mental health of children and young people.

In this review, contextual factors refer to a broad range of social, cultural, economic, historical, and environmental factors that influence mental health and wellbeing. Table 2 summarises contextual factors that have been identified by young people in Aotearoa (Fleming et al., 2020; Menzies et al., 2020; Stubbing, Simon-Kumar, et al., 2023; Whāraurau, 2022a, 2022b, 2023). It is also important to consider modern and emerging issues arising from societal changes that impact on children and young people. *The Lancet Psychiatry Commission on Youth Mental Health* (McGorry et al., 2024) describes the harmful influences of major societal changes (or 'megatrends'), such as intergenerational inequality, unregulated social media and digital environments, employment insecurity, and climate change. The COVID-19 pandemic is also recognised as having ongoing effects on child and youth mental health (Duan et al., 2024; McGorry et al., 2024). Such emerging factors highlight the need to balance a biomedical approach with a sociocultural epidemiological approach to bring a more holistic understanding of child and youth mental health and substance use (Krieger, 2024).

Table 2. Top contributors to youth wellbeing in Aotearoa as identified by young people (aged 13 to 25 years)

Supports	Challenges
Sense of purpose and belonging	Emotional and mental health issues
Self-esteem and body image	Education and employment pressures
Cultural and self-identity, self- expression, and spirituality	Bullying victimisation (including cyberbullying)
Whānau and intergenerational	Inequity, colonisation, racism, and
connections	discrimination
Peer relationships and connections	Peer pressure and harmful exposure related
	to alcohol and other drugs, sex, and
	pornography
Community support	Adverse effects of social media and
	technology
Self-care and leisure activities (such	Wider societal factors (such as climate
as physical exercise, art, music,	change, COVID-19, financial recession,
reading, etc.)	global politics)

Based on findings from: Fleming et al., 2020; Stubbing, Simon-Kumar, et al., 2023; Whāraurau, 2022a, 2022b, 2023.

Last year, Te Pou reviewed the social determinants of mental health and substance use with a focus on adults (Te Pou, 2023) and Koi Tū examined factors influencing youth mental health (Stubbing, Rihari, et al., 2023; Stubbing, Simon-Kumar, et al., 2023). There is a need to further explore key influences on population mental health and substance use, with a particular focus on children and youth.

While the focus is on reviewing the population-level influences of contextual factors, it is important to note that factors can influence people's lives in different ways and each person's experience is unique. While a contextual factor may increase the risk of mental health challenges or problematic substance use on average, this outcome is not inevitable for individual people. The influence of contextual factors on mental health and substance use is not a simple relationship; it consists of interwoven effects of many factors, positive and negative, and some associations can be bi-directional (Stubbing, Rihari, et al., 2023). For example, mental health and employment can have a bi-directional relationship where mental health challenges impact on people finding and maintaining employment. Employment issues can also impact on people's mental health.

Aim and objectives

This narrative review aims to provide an overview of 10 contextual factors influencing child and youth mental health and substance use to inform the planning and development of the child and youth mental health and addiction prevalence study. The objectives are to examine how widespread the factors are at the population level and the estimated magnitude of influence on child and youth mental health and addiction.

Method

A preliminary literature scan was undertaken to identify the range of contextual factors influencing mental health and substance among children and youth (see Appendix).

A narrative literature review was then undertaken to identify local and international data and research about each factor and the relationship with mental health and substance use.

The electronic search for journal articles, data outputs or dashboards, and grey literature included EBSCOHost (Academic Search Complete, CINAHL Complete, MEDLINE Complete, and Psychology and Behavioural Sciences Collection), Google Scholar, and Google. Due to time constraints, the inclusion criteria were limited to outcomes related to common mental health challenges facing children and youth, particularly depression, anxiety, and problematic substance use. The inclusion criteria included systematic reviews and meta-analyses published between 2014 and 2024, local research between 2009 and 2024 including case-control, cross-sectional, and longitudinal studies, and papers from the Christchurch and Dunedin longitudinal studies. The exclusion criteria were data and research where the full text was not available to the researchers or not in English.

The following key terms were used across multiple electronic searches:

- systematic, meta-analysis, longitudinal
- child, adolescent, youth, indigenous, Māori, rangatahi
- mental health, substance use, depression, anxiety, alcohol, drug, suicide, self-harm
- adverse childhood experiences, abuse
- bullying, discrimination, racism
- socioeconomic, poverty, food insecurity, material hardship
- family environment, family functioning, parent, foster care
- social, peer relationships, loneliness
- school engagement, school connectedness, attendance, not in employment, education, or training (NEET)
- substance use, alcohol, drug
- social media, technology, digital, problematic smartphone use
- cultural identity, cultural belonging, cultural connectedness.

Odds ratios (ORs) and similar statistical effect sizes were used to estimate the strength of influence a contextual factor has on the likelihood of experiencing mental health challenges or problematic substance use. For the purposes of this review, ORs greater than 3.0 are considered medium to large statistical effects (Chen et al., 2010). For example, an OR = 3.0 can be interpreted as people in the exposed group being 3 times more likely to experience mental health challenges or problematic substance use.

Key terms

Prevalence – the proportion of people living with a condition who meet diagnostic criteria at a specific point in time or within a specific period.

Mental health challenges – a strengths-based term preferred by people with lived experience that describes experiences from symptoms through to meeting diagnostic criteria for a mental health condition.

Mental health conditions – a term used instead of mental disorders to describe when people meet specific diagnostic criteria, as outlined in Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition, Text Revision (DSM-5-TR).

Problematic substance use – patterns of substance use that negatively impact people's lives, including those not meeting diagnostic criteria for substance use disorders. The terms substance use issues or harms are also used when not talking about a formal diagnosis. Substance use disorder may be used when specifically referring to people who meet diagnostic criteria but is a term not commonly used outside clinical assessment and specialist addiction services.

Substance-related harm – any form of harm arising from substance use to the person using and/or to their whānau or communities.

Key findings

Based on the preliminary literature scan (see Appendix), 10 contextual factors impacting on child and youth mental health and substance use are explored.

These are (in alphabetical order):

- 1. adverse childhood experiences (including child maltreatment)
- 2. bullying victimisation
- 3. cultural identity
- 4. experiences of discrimination
- 5. whānau environment
- 6. peer relationships
- 7. engagement with school and work
- 8. social media and technology
- 9. socioeconomic factors
- 10. substance use.

For the 10 contextual factors, each section provides a summary. Then overseas and local data and research examining the impact of each factor on child and youth mental health and substance use are explored.

1. Adverse childhood experiences

Section summary

Adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) are stressful and potentially traumatic events experienced in childhood, including but not limited to childhood maltreatment, that is neglect and sexual, physical, and psychological abuse (Karatekin et al., 2022).

Aotearoa and international research shows that childhood maltreatment can increase the likelihood of developing mental health conditions and problematic substance use, with some studies reporting medium to large statistical effects (Fergusson et al., 1996; Fergusson & Lynskey, 1997; Lindert et al., 2014). In particular, sexual and physical abuse are strongly linked to mental health challenges and problematic substance use (Fergusson et al., 1996; Hogg et al., 2023).

Research indicates ACEs can have cumulative effects on mental health and substance use; with people reporting four or more ACEs experiencing poorer outcomes compared to those with fewer ACEs, or no ACEs on average (Hashemi et al., 2021; Hughes et al., 2017).

While population rates of childhood maltreatment are difficult to estimate due to varying measures, Aotearoa and international research suggests that abuse and neglect may affect up to 1 in 4 children and young people. Furthermore, rates of ACEs and family harm may be increasing over time (Hartwell et al., 2023; Lippard & Nemeroff, 2019; New Zealand Police, 2024).

When looking at a wider range of ACEs, local research estimates that 1 in 2 adults experience at least one ACE prior to age 18, and 1 in 8 experience four or more ACEs (Fanslow et al., 2021).

Positive childhood experiences are important to consider but relatively less researched. Research, including from Growing up in New Zealand and the Christchurch Longitudinal studies, have identified positive experiences that can buffer against the detrimental effects of ACEs. These include parent-child relationships, parental wellness, household finances, peer and whānau relationships, and community or neighbourhood characteristics (Buchanan et al., 2024; Karatekin et al., 2022; Lynskey & Fergusson, 1997; Walsh et al., 2019). Among Indigenous populations, an international systematic review indicates cultural identity and connectedness, education, and social support can reduce the negative impact of ACEs (Radford et al., 2022).

Children and young people may experience both ACEs and positive childhood experiences, and their impact on mental health challenges and problematic substance use in later life depends on their cumulative and combined effects.

Overall, ACEs can negatively impact on health and social wellbeing (Karatekin et al., 2022). People who experience childhood trauma are nearly 3 times (OR 2.90) more likely to be

diagnosed with a mental health condition (Hogg et al., 2023). In particular, physical and sexual abuse are strongly linked to meeting diagnostic criteria for a mental health condition later in life (Hogg et al., 2023). This association is potentially explained by severe and prolonged stress that impacts various systems in the body and brain (known as toxic stress) (Lippard & Nemeroff, 2019; Madigan et al., 2023).

There is a wide range of ACEs to consider. Research on ACEs often include psychological abuse, physical abuse, sexual abuse, emotional neglect, physical neglect, parental separation or divorce, household exposure to problematic substance use, mental health challenges, intimate partner violence, and incarceration (Dong et al., 2004; Dube et al., 2003; Felitti et al., 1998). Some studies expand further to include death or loss of a parent, serious illness or accident, bullying victimisation, exposure to violence outside of the household, experiences of discrimination, poverty, war or conflict, and natural disasters (Karatekin et al., 2022). Additionally, many children and young people in Aotearoa have been impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic and natural disasters which are associated with psychological distress (Gawn et al., 2024; Stubbing, Rihari, et al., 2023; Walker et al., 2023). It is important to note there are other adverse events that are stressful but may not be classified in studies as traumatic.

The following subsections examine three key areas in more detail: 1) childhood maltreatment, 2) cumulative effects of ACEs, and 3) positive childhood experiences.

Childhood maltreatment

Childhood maltreatment can include neglect and sexual, physical, and psychological abuse. The definitions of childhood maltreatment, abuse, and neglect appear to be consistent across the literature, however the use of various methods and measures in prevalence studies makes the global prevalence difficult to estimate (Massullo et al., 2023). One review estimates that 1 in 4 people experience child abuse or neglect in their lifetime (Lippard & Nemeroff, 2019).

The New Zealand Victims of Crime and Victims Survey shows rates of family offences and sexual violence are the highest among young people (aged 15 to 19 years) compared to other age groups. Estimates suggest about 3 percent of young people are victims of family offences and 5.1 percent are victims of sexual assaults each year (Ministry of Justice, 2024).

Nearly 1 in 5 (18 percent) secondary school students report ever having had unwanted sexual experiences, sexual violence or abuse (an increase from 14 percent in 2012, particularly among females and those aged 16 and over) (Fleming et al., 2021; Ministry of Social Development, 2022). Among secondary school students, half (51 percent) report being hit or harmed on purpose in the last 12 months, mostly by siblings or other young people (Fleming et al., 2021).

Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Youth2000 surveys indicate a decline in the proportion of secondary school students witnessing physical violence at home (Fleming et al., 2021). In 2019, 6 percent report witnessing physical violence at home between adults and 8 percent

report witnessing adults hurting or harming children in the last 12 months (Fleming et al., 2021). While the rates of family harm since COVID-19 are unclear, service activity data suggests family harm may have increased in recent years (New Zealand Police, 2024).

Local and international research indicates sexual harm and abuse have a greater impact on mental health compared to other types of harm, such as physical abuse, emotional abuse, bullying, discrimination, and witnessing violence in the home (Hogg et al., 2023; Sutcliffe et al., 2024). The Christchurch Health and Development Study found that young people (aged 16 to 18 years) who had experienced childhood sexual abuse were 4.6 to 8.1 times more likely to experience major depression, 4.3 to 4.8 times more likely to experience an anxiety disorder, and 1.4 to 5.1 times more likely to experience problematic substance use (Fergusson et al., 1996). Physical maltreatment in childhood was also associated with significantly higher rates of major depression, anxiety disorders, conduct disorder, and substance use disorder at ages 16 to 18 (Fergusson & Lynskey, 1997). Rangatahi Māori who witness violence at home are 1.8 times more likely to have tried to take their own life (Clark et al., 2011).

The negative effects of childhood maltreatment can persist into adulthood. While not inevitable; childhood maltreatment increases the likelihood of mental health challenges and problematic substance use problems in adulthood by 1.8 to 2.6 times (Fergusson, McLeod, et al., 2013; Telfar et al., 2023). Associations remain after taking into account a range of confounding factors such as whānau dynamics, socio-demographic background, and individual factors (Telfar et al., 2023). Similarly, the Dunedin Multidisciplinary Health and Development Study found that childhood maltreatment increases the odds of depression in adulthood by 1.7 times (Danese et al., 2009). This aligns with international research which indicates childhood maltreatment has a significant influence on the likelihood of experiencing depression, thoughts of taking their own life, and problematic substance use in adulthood (Lindert et al., 2014; Mandelli et al., 2015; Miranda-Mendizabal et al., 2019). Childhood maltreatment is also associated with an increased prevalence in symptoms of psychosis, problematic eating, and personality disorders (Jester et al., 2023; Solmi et al., 2020, 2021).

Cumulative effects of ACEs

There is a growing body of literature looking at the cumulative impacts of experiencing multiple ACEs. While the range of ACE measures used makes it difficult to directly compare results, a common approach has been to examine the total number or count of ACEs (Dong et al., 2004; Dube et al., 2003; Felitti et al., 1998; Karatekin et al., 2022).

International research estimates 60 percent of adults experience at least one ACE and 16 percent report four or more (Madigan et al., 2023). Similarly, local data indicates over half (55 percent) of adults in Aotearoa have experienced at least one ACE and 12 percent have experienced four or more ACEs (Fanslow et al., 2021). Further reports by parents and caregivers indicate around half of young children aged 4.5 years (53 percent) have experienced at least one ACE and nearly 3 percent have experienced four or more ACEs

(Ministry of Social Development & AUT Center for Social Data Analytics, 2019). The most common ACEs experienced by young children in Aotearoa are emotional and physical abuse (Ministry of Social Development & AUT Center for Social Data Analytics, 2019). However, it is important to note that parents and caregivers often under-report ACEs (Ndjatou et al., 2024). ACEs are often associated with other contextual factors such as whānau environment and socioeconomic status (Fanslow et al., 2021; Ministry of Social Development & AUT Center for Social Data Analytics, 2019).

An umbrella review of international research indicates having at least one ACE doubles the odds of experiencing symptoms of anxiety and depression, and thoughts of taking their own life (Sahle et al., 2022). The effect of multiple ACEs is even higher; having four or more ACEs increases the likelihood of symptoms of anxiety and depression by about 4 times, problematic alcohol use by nearly 6 times, and problematic drug use by 10 times (Hughes et al., 2017). The review also found that having four or more ACEs increases the likelihood of people trying to take their own life by up to 30 times.

In Aotearoa, the 2019 New Zealand Family Violence Study looks at the association between retrospective ACEs and self-reported outcomes in adults at a point in time. The study found ACEs increase the subsequent risk of experiencing violence (Fanslow et al., 2021) and multiple ACEs can have cumulative adverse effects on mental health (Hashemi et al., 2021). Adults who reported four or more ACEs were 4 times more likely to report being diagnosed with depression by their doctor, and 3 times more likely to report an anxiety diagnosis (Hashemi et al., 2021).

Methodological considerations are important in the use of ACE measures. The Dunedin Multidisciplinary Health and Development Study found moderate alignment between retrospective (recalled in adulthood) and prospective (recorded throughout childhood) ACE measures. Interestingly, retrospective ACE counts appear to be more predictive of mental health challenges in adulthood, than prospective measures (Reuben et al., 2016). The authors suggests this is potentially due to recall bias, that is, people experiencing mental health challenges may recall more negative childhood memories (Reuben et al., 2016). In addition, overseas research indicates there are discrepancies in self-reported and parent-reported ACEs, and the ability of ACE measures to predict mental health challenges may vary across subpopulations (Cohen & Choi, 2022; Ndjatou et al., 2024).

Positive childhood experiences

Only a relatively small number of studies using different methods and measures have looked at protective factors or positive experiences in childhood that buffer against ACEs, though this is a growing area of research (Han et al., 2023; Karatekin et al., 2022). Positive experiences are often viewed as countering or buffering against ACEs; the inclusion of both positive and adverse experiences in research enables an understanding of their dual effects (Han et al., 2023). Research indicates positive experiences are associated with lower childhood adversity and better mental health (Han et al., 2023). Childhood protective factors

include coping strategies, parental wellbeing, parenting style, whānau relationships, social support outside of the household, socioeconomic characteristics, and school-related and community factors (Karatekin et al., 2022).

Locally, the Christchurch Health and Development Study found the impact of ACEs on mental health conditions in adulthood varied depending on the quality of peer and whānau relationships (Buchanan et al., 2024; Lynskey & Fergusson, 1997). Similarly, the Growing Up in New Zealand study identifies mother-partner and parent-child relationships as protective factors for children at risk of ACEs, along with parent health and wellness, household finances, and community or neighbourhood characteristics (Walsh et al., 2019). Conversely, the 2019 New Zealand Family Violence Study cross-sectional analysis found some positive childhood experiences (of being loved and having strengths recognised) did not alter the detrimental impact of exposure to ACEs on wellbeing (Hashemi et al., 2021).

Among Indigenous populations, an international systematic review indicates cultural identity and connectedness, education, and social support can reduce the negative impact of ACEs (Radford et al., 2022).

The number of protective factors experienced appears to be important. The first Northern Ireland prevalence study on children and young people (aged 2 to 19 years) found that for every additional 'benevolent childhood experience' the likelihood of depression, anxiety and self-harming behaviour and suicidal ideation was reduced by 14, 13, and 7 percent respectively (Bunting et al., 2020).

Thus, it is important to recognise that children and youth may experience both ACEs and positive childhood experiences, and their impact on mental health challenges and problematic substance use in later life may depend on their cumulative and combined effects.

2. Bullying

Section summary

Bullying is defined as aggressive behaviour that can deliberately cause physical and/or psychological harm to another person, involves misuse of power, and is repeated over time (Bullying Free New Zealand, n.d.). It can include 'being made fun of' and 'being excluded on purpose from activities', as well as cyberbullying through electronic devices and social media (Mhuru & Ministry of Education, 2021).

Experiences of bullying are common, and Aotearoa has one of the highest rates of bullying in the OECD. Local estimates are 1 in 3 students (in primary and secondary school) are bullied on a monthly basis, with those aged between 11 and 14 most at risk (Kljakovic et al., 2015; Mhuru & Ministry of Education, 2021). Rates of bullying locally have remained relatively steady over time (Kljakovic et al., 2015).

International research indicates that bullying victimisation can have a moderate to large impact on the likelihood of developing mental health conditions and problematic substance use. Longitudinal studies in Aotearoa also indicate bullying in childhood impacts on later depression, anxiety, psychosis, suicidality and substance use issues.

Several national surveys regularly monitor bullying among children and adolescents, including the Youth Health and Wellbeing Survey, Youth Connectedness Project (longitudinal study), and Wellbeing@School surveys (Mhuru & Ministry of Education, 2021). However, the impact on mental health and wellbeing is not often analysed, and a more up-to-date analysis is needed.

Bullying includes verbal, physical, social or relational, and cyber (through electronic devices and social media) bullying. Bullying in school often involves 'being made fun of' and 'being excluded on purpose from activities' (Mhuru & Ministry of Education, 2021). Bullying is related to discrimination, but they are separate concepts (see subsequent Racism and other forms of discrimination).

Across OECD countries, nearly 1 in 4 students (23 percent) on average report being bullied at least a few times a month (OECD, 2019). This rate is higher in Aotearoa and has remained relatively steady over time, where 1 in 3 students report being bullied on a monthly basis (32 to 38 percent, including primary and secondary school students) (Kljakovic et al., 2015; Mhuru & Ministry of Education, 2021).

The most common form of bullying victimisation appears to be in-school, followed by text message, outside of school, and internet victimisation (Kljakovic et al., 2015). This is in line with international research indicating traditional forms of bullying (such as physical, verbal, or relational bullying) are more common than cyber bullying, though they are correlated (Li et al., 2022; Modecki et al., 2014). For example, young people who are bullied in-person are also more likely to experience cyberbullying (Li et al., 2022; Modecki et al., 2014).

The experience of bullying appears to peak around ages 11 to 14 years old, then decreases with age (Kljakovic et al., 2015). Students are more likely to experience bullying victimisation if they have low reading literacy, are male, disabled, socioeconomically disadvantaged, or identify as transgender or rainbow (Mhuru & Ministry of Education, 2021). In contrast, parental support and a sense of belonging in the school environment are associated with lower victimisation (Birchall et al., 2024).

Bullying victimisation and mental health

International research shows bullying victimisation among adolescents increases the likelihood of symptoms of depression by 3.3 to 5.3 times, thoughts of taking their own life by 3.1 to 6.6, self-harm by 2.7 to 5.6, and trying to take their own life by 2.6 to 7.8 (Li et al., 2022). A meta-analysis by Ye and colleagues (2023) indicates the odds of experiencing symptoms of depression are highest among children and adolescents who are both a victim and perpetrator of bullying. Traditional and cyber bullying have similar associations with symptoms of depression (OR 2.4 and 2.9 respectively), whereas a stronger association is observed among children and adolescents involved with both types of bullying (OR 4.5) (Ye et al., 2023).

In Aotearoa, cross-sectional research supports the association between bullying victimisation and symptoms of depression during adolescence (Coggan et al., 2003; Raskauskas, 2009). When comparing across several factors, the Pacific Islands Families Study found that involvement with bullying (both as the victim or person who bullies) is a key factor contributing to depression among Pasifika children (Paterson et al., 2014, 2018).

The negative effects of childhood bullying can influence mental health and substance use later in life (Moore et al., 2017; Ttofi et al., 2016). The Christchurch Health and Development Study found being bullied during adolescence increases the likelihood of mental health challenges and substance use problems in later life. Compared to people who were not involved in bullying, those who were victims of bullying during adolescence were twice as likely to experience anxiety later in life (OR 2.1), and 1.8 times more likely to try to take their own life (Boden et al., 2016; Gibb et al., 2011). Those who bully others are more likely to experience substance use problems in later life (OR 1.4 to 2.0) and 1.2 times more likely to try to take their own life (Gibb et al., 2011). For people who bully, little or no difference in later life experiences of depression or anxiety was found (Gibb et al., 2011).

3. Cultural and social identity

Section summary

Cultural identity includes a broad range of social identities such as age or generation, ethnicity, nationality, gender and sexual identity. Children and youth can have multiple identities that combine to form an overall sense of self. For example, around one-third of children identify with more than one ethnicity (Neumann et al., 2023; Stubbing, Rihari, et al., 2023). Children and youth can experience value as well as forms of discrimination associated with their identities (Srivastava & Srivastava, 2019). Therefore, an intersectional approach in research is needed (N. Simon-Kumar, 2023).

Developing a strong sense of cultural identity is particularly important to the wellbeing of children and youth who are Māori, Pasifika, Asian, MELAA, rainbow, and disabled (Ministry of Social Development, 2022). For rangatahi Māori, this can include involvement with their iwi, kapa haka, mau rākau, waka ama, and kura kaupapa.

Local data indicates MELAA, rainbow, and disabled young people on average feel less able to express their identity and proud of who they are, and report a lower sense of belonging to the communities they live in (Ministry of Social Development, 2022). Though individual experiences may differ among these groups.

Among rangatahi Māori, a strong Māori cultural identity can reduce the likelihood of experiencing symptoms of depression by half (A. D. Williams et al., 2018), and predict positive wellbeing and adaptive coping over time (Fox et al., 2018; Stuart & Jose, 2014). Local and international research also suggests a strong sense of cultural identity helps buffer against the detrimental effects of discrimination (Busby et al., 2020; Logeswaran et al., 2019; Manuela, 2021; Ministry of Social Development, 2022).

Cultural and social identity is an important protective factor for mental health and substance use issues in the Aotearoa context. It is however an under-researched area, particularly in understanding the influences across diverse populations.

Adolescence and young adulthood are important periods for identity development and forming a sense of oneself and who one can become (Srivastava & Srivastava, 2019). Cultural and social identities are diverse and fluid, and can be influenced by community engagement and experiences of prejudice and discrimination (Srivastava & Srivastava, 2019). International research indicates a strong and positive sense of identity can support better mental health in young people (Potterton et al., 2022; Smith & Silva, 2011; Srivastava & Srivastava, 2019). Positive cultural identity and connection are protective factors that improve mental health and wellbeing and can help young people navigate uncertain futures (Anderson et al., 2022; Doery et al., 2023; Hodgson et al., 2022; McGorry et al., 2024).

In Aotearoa, young people recognise the importance of cultural identity to their wellbeing but face challenges in fully understanding and expressing their cultural identity (Whāraurau,

2023). Rangatahi Māori, Pacific, and Asian young people report strong connections to their culture and view it as important to maintaining their ethnic group values, whānau traditions, and cultural heritage (Ministry of Social Development, 2022). On the other hand, rainbow and disabled youth are less likely to feel proud of who they are and to express their identity compared to other groups (Ministry of Social Development, 2022).

The following subsections further explore cultural and social identity for: 1) Indigenous, 2) migrant, 3) rainbow, and 4) disabled youth.

Indigenous youth

Positive cultural identity is protective for hauora hinengaro (mental health) among Māori (Durie, 2001). Aspects of Māori cultural identity⁸ include personal ethnic identity, sense of belonging to whānau and social groups, participation in traditional knowledge and practices, and spiritual beliefs (Matika et al., 2020; A. D. Williams et al., 2018). Moreover, hauora wairua (spiritual health) is a fundamental component of Māori health and wellbeing (Durie, 1985; Valentine et al., 2017).

Youth2000 series data indicates around half of rangatahi Māori report high levels of Māori cultural identity (A. D. Williams et al., 2018). At age 12, the Growing Up in New Zealand study found, 83 percent of rangatahi Māori report they 'feel good' about their cultural or ethnic background, 76 percent have a lot of pride in their ethnic group, and 69 percent have a strong sense of belonging with their own ethnic group (Neumann et al., 2023).

Strong Māori cultural identity decreases the odds of symptoms of depression by 50 percent and increases wellbeing by 50 percent among rangatahi Māori (A. D. Williams et al., 2018). The Growing Up in New Zealand study found cultural connectedness was associated with fewer symptoms of depression and better quality of life among rangatahi Māori (Paine et al., 2023). Similarly, two separate longitudinal analyses indicate cultural identity and embeddedness predict adaptive coping and wellbeing among rangatahi Māori over time (Fox et al., 2018; Stuart & Jose, 2014).

Overall, there is a need for more high-quality research on Indigenous cultural identity, particularly quantitative and longitudinal research, as it is often overlooked in Western-based research (Lloyd-Johnsen et al., 2021; Potterton et al., 2022; Srivastava & Srivastava, 2019). Qualitative research overseas shows indigenous youth across Aotearoa, Australia, Canada and the US emphasise the importance of cultural identity, knowledge, and connection to their wellbeing (Anderson et al., 2022; Benton, 2021; Murrup-Stewart et al., 2021). Research in Canada shows cultural connectedness has a strong positive impact on mental health among First Nations youth, and communities who have preserved their own culture experience lower youth suicide rates (Chandler & Lalonde, 1998; Snowshoe et al., 2017). Similarly, an Australian study indicates suicide rates are lower among Aboriginal and Torres

24

⁸ Several measures of Māori cultural identity and connectedness have been developed including the Māori Cultural Identity Scale (MCIS) (A. D. Williams et al., 2018) and the Māori Identity and Cultural Engagement (MMM-ICE3) (Matika et al., 2020).

Strait Islander youth living in communities with higher levels of cultural connectedness (M. Gibson et al., 2021). Cultural identity and connectedness have also found to protect Indigenous peoples from the potentially harmful impacts of ACEs (Radford et al., 2022).

Migrant youth

Aotearoa has seen a significant increase in net migration, with approximately 29 percent of the population being born overseas, including children and young people (Stats NZ, 2024b). Migrant populations in Aotearoa are often categorised as Pasifika, Asian, and MELAA (Middle Eastern, Latin American and African). However, these groups are not homogenous; each group consists of people from various nationalities, ethnicities, and cultures. For example, Pasifika peoples include those who are Samoan, Cook Island Māori, Tongan, Niuean, Fijian, etc.

Migrant youth in Aotearoa experience more symptoms of depression compared to their non-migrant counterparts (Spijkers, 2011). A Youth2000 analysis found migrant youth who feel proud of their ethnic identity and resonate with their ethnic group's values are more likely to report better wellbeing and less symptoms of depression (Spijkers, 2011). The Growing Up in New Zealand study found that at age 12, over 80 percent of Pasifika, Asian and MELAA children 'feel good' about their cultural or ethnic background. Nearly three-quarters (73 percent) of Pasifika and MELAA children feel a strong sense of belonging to their own ethnic group, and over two-thirds of Asian children (69 percent) (Neumann et al., 2023). The General Social Survey indicates 85 percent of young people (aged 15 to 24 years) report a strong sense of belonging to Aotearoa (Stats NZ, 2022c).

For migrant youth, it is important to consider the influence of their place of birth or migrant generation, along with acculturation experiences. For example, migrants who experience integration (adoption of the new culture whilst retaining their own cultural identity) report better mental health compared to those who experience marginalisation (rejection of both the new culture and their own cultural identity) (Choy et al., 2021; Yoon et al., 2013). International research indicates first generation migrants (those who migrated to a new country) are more at risk of mood disorders and psychosis compared to second generation migrants (who were born to migrant parents in the new country) (Bourque et al., 2011; Mindlis & Boffetta, 2017). Similarly, an analysis of the Youth2000 data found that first generation migrant youth in Aotearoa report slightly higher levels of symptoms of depression compared to second generation migrant youth and non-migrants (Spijkers, 2011). The analysis also indicates acculturation and cultural maintenance predict less symptoms of depression (Spijkers, 2011). The difference between generations may be explained by first generation migrants' loss of their whānau, friends, and familiar environments, as well as stressful experiences with adapting to a new cultural environment and language (Spijkers, 2011).

Pasifika

The Pasifika population is young and has a large proportion of young people born in Aotearoa (Teariki & Leau, 2024). *Te Rau Hinengaro* (the New Zealand Mental Health Survey) found Pasifika peoples who migrated as young children or born in Aotearoa are more likely to meet criteria for mental health conditions than those who migrated as adults (Kokaua et al., 2009). Pasifika youth in Aotearoa have a high level of pride in who they are, and their ethnic identity helps buffer against the negative effects of discrimination to their wellbeing (Manuela, 2021; Ministry of Social Development, 2022). Qualitative research involving Aotearoa-born Cook Islands youth indicates pride in Pacific ethnic identities, cultural participation, and language retention are important for positive mental health (Puna & Tiatia-Seath, 2017). Language is an important link between identity and wellbeing (Matika et al., 2021). There is a need for more research looking at the positive influence of cultural identity on the mental wellbeing of Pasifika youth, with consideration for place of birth (Kapeli et al., 2020; Manuela & Anae, 2017).

Asian and MELAA

Qualitative research in Aotearoa highlights the importance of cultural identity, integration, acculturation, and racism in understanding the health and wellbeing of Asian New Zealanders (Wong et al., 2015). For young Asian and MELAA New Zealanders, conflicting cultural values and experiences of discrimination can make it challenging to navigate their cultural identity and sense of belonging (Bhatia, 2023; Kim, 2022). One study found Chinese adolescents in Aotearoa reported higher levels of self-esteem if they integrated their cultural identities compared to those who felt separated or marginalised (Eyou et al., 2000).

The rate of MELAA young people experiencing serious psychological distress is higher than other ethnic groups (Ministry of Social Development, 2022). Findings from What About Me? (the National Youth Health and Wellbeing Survey 2021) indicates MELAA youth often feel less able to express their identity, proud of who they are, belonging to the communities they live in, and are more likely to experience discrimination related to their ethnicity (Ministry of Social Development, 2022). Despite such stark inequities, MELAA young people are often not specifically examined in local research due to the relatively smaller number of participants (Atatoa Carr et al., 2022).

Rainbow youth

Approximately 8 percent of young people aged 18 to 24 years identify as belonging to the rainbow community (Olsen, 2022; Stats NZ, 2024a). International research indicates positive identity development among rainbow youth supports better mental health and can buffer against the negative impacts of discrimination (Busby et al., 2020; Fredriksen-Goldsen et al., 2017).

International evidence consistently shows rainbow youth are more likely to experience mental health challenges compared to non-rainbow peers (Lucassen et al., 2017; Pellicane

& Ciesla, 2022; A. J. Williams et al., 2021). Among transgender and gender diverse people, concealment of gender identity can be associated with symptoms of depression (Pellicane & Ciesla, 2022).

In Aotearoa, rainbow youth often feel less able to express their identity, less proud of who they are, and have a lower sense of community belonging compared to other groups (Ministry of Social Development, 2022). High school students with diverse sexualities in Aotearoa are 3 to 4 times more likely to experience symptoms of depression compared to heterosexual students (Lucassen et al., 2015). Transgender students are 5 to 6 times more likely to experience symptoms of depression (OR=5.7), and to have tried to take their own life in the past year compared to cisgender students (OR=5.0) (Clark et al., 2014). An earlier analysis from the Christchurch Health and Development Study found young adults with diverse sexualities were more likely to experience major depression (OR=4.0), anxiety disorders (OR=2.8), substance use disorders (OR=1.9), and to have tried to take their own life (OR=6.2) compared to heterosexual young adults (Fergusson et al., 1999; Fergusson, Horwood, Ridder, et al., 2005). These inequities are also linked to experiences of social stigma, exclusion, and discrimination (see Discrimination experienced by rainbow youth).

Disabled youth

Positive identity development is important among disabled youth and can support better mental health (Forber-Pratt et al., 2017; Logeswaran et al., 2019; Zapata & Pearlstein, 2022). Globally, about 10 to 13 percent of children and young people have a disability (Olusanya et al., 2022). Similarly, in Aotearoa around 11 to 19 percent of children and young people are disabled (Marks et al., 2023; Whaikaha Ministry of Disabled People, 2024). Approximately 1 in 7 children also have a disabled parent or main caregiver and 29 percent of whānau experience some form of disability (Marks et al., 2023).

In Aotearoa, disabled young people often feel less able to express their identity, less proud of who they are, and have a lower sense of community belonging compared to other groups (Ministry of Social Development, 2022). Disabled children and youth are more likely to experience high levels of psychological distress and symptoms of depression and anxiety compared non-disabled counterparts (Marks et al., 2023; Ministry of Social Development, 2022). Approximately 1 in 3 disabled youth experience symptoms of depression and thoughts of taking their own life (Clark et al., 2021). These inequities are also linked to experiences of social stigma, exclusion, and discrimination (see Discrimination experienced by disabled youth).

4. Experiences of racism and other forms of discrimination

Section summary

Discrimination is the unfair treatment of a socially defined group. Racism and other forms of discrimination are increasingly recognised as factors influencing mental health and wellbeing (Krieger, 2001).

In Aotearoa, around 1 in 10 young people experience racism each year, which is more common among Māori, Pasifika, and Asian youth (Crengle et al., 2012; Harris et al., 2024). Around 1 in 2 rainbow youth in secondary school and 1 in 4 in university experience bullying and harassment (Treharne et al., 2016; Webber & McGregor, 2019). About 40 percent of disabled people report experiencing discrimination each year; children and youth often experience this in healthcare and education settings (Stats NZ, 2021).

International research suggests discrimination has a larger impact on the mental health of children and young people (relative to adults), although all age groups are impacted (Schmitt et al., 2014). Discrimination is also experienced by some population groups more than others, and where people have multi-identities, discrimination can come in multiple forms. In line with international research (Vargas et al., 2020), young people who experience racism and other forms of discrimination in Aotearoa are more likely to experience psychological distress and symptoms of depression (Crengle et al., 2012).

More research is needed looking at the direct effects of discrimination on mental health and substance use, particularly for rainbow and disabled youth.

Findings highlight the need to reduce young people's experiences of discrimination and ensure access to support that affirms their identity, particularly for rainbow and disabled children and youth (Roy et al., 2021).

Discrimination can be interpersonal (perceptions and interactions between people), institutionalised (embedded within organisations and systems), and structural (embedded within laws, policies, and societal practices) (Acevedo-Garcia et al., 2013). In Aotearoa, colonisation, discrimination, and exclusion are key drivers that disempower people and shape the inequitable distribution of resources, including socioeconomic disadvantage and access to quality housing and healthcare (Curtis et al., 2023; Waitangi Tribunal, 2019). This can lead to differential treatment and poor health and wellbeing outcomes for children and young people (Acevedo-Garcia et al., 2013; Kirkbride et al., 2024; Maung et al., 2024). Moreover, children and youth are often discriminated against because of their age and often lack visibility and voice in vulnerable situations (Maung et al., 2024).

Compared to adults, perceived discrimination among children has a larger negative impact on their mental wellbeing (Schmitt et al., 2014). Perceived discrimination also has a bigger influence on the mental wellbeing of disadvantaged groups, compared to advantaged groups (Schmitt et al., 2014).

The majority of research looking at discrimination focuses on the impacts of racism and sexism on mental health (Emmer et al., 2024). This includes local data from longitudinal studies and national youth surveys on experiences of racism among children and youth (R. Simon-Kumar et al., 2022; Talamaivao et al., 2020). Discrimination based on sexual orientation and disability have received relatively less focus in research (Schmitt et al., 2014).

The following sections focus on: 1) racism, 2) discrimination experienced by rainbow youth, 3) discrimination experienced by disabled youth, and 4) intersectionality.

Racism

Racism is discrimination based on race or ethnicity, and is increasingly recognised as a risk factor for poor mental health (Paradies et al., 2015). In Aotearoa, around 6 to 11 percent of adolescents and young adults report exposure to racism in the past year, and lifetime exposure ranges from 14 to 21 percent (Harris et al., 2024). Experiences of racism are more common among Māori, Pasifika, and Asian youth compared to those who identify as New Zealand European (Crengle et al., 2012; Harris et al., 2024).

Cross-sectional research indicates Māori youth who experience racism are 2.2 to 3.4 times more likely to experience symptoms of depression and 2.5 times more likely to have a previously tried to take their own life (Crengle et al., 2012; A. D. Williams et al., 2018). Migrant youth who perceive ethnic discrimination are more likely to report symptoms of depression (Spijkers, 2011). Pasifika and Asian youth who experience racism are 2.9 and 2.3 times more likely respectively to experience symptoms of depression, than those who do not (Crengle et al., 2012).

Discrimination experienced by rainbow youth

Rainbow youth are more likely to experience poorer mental health due to experiences of social stigma, exclusion, and discrimination (Russell & Fish, 2016; Stevens, 2013; Wittlin et al., 2023). Overseas, experiences of victimisation (bullying and hate crime) are nearly 4 times higher (OR 3.7; prevalence rate of 36 percent) among rainbow youth compared to cisgender, heterosexual youth (A. J. Williams et al., 2021). Discrimination is strongly associated with transgender people's experiences with mental health challenges and trying to take their own life (McNeil et al., 2017; Pellicane & Ciesla, 2022). Moreover, the current socio-political climate and structural transphobia can have a negative impact on transgender people's mental health (Flaskerud & Lesser, 2018; Price et al., 2023)

In Aotearoa, 1 in 2 rainbow secondary school students report having ever been bullied (Webber & McGregor, 2019). Among university students, 1 in 4 rainbow youth (25 percent) have experienced harassment as a result of their gender or sexuality (Treharne et al., 2016). The most common forms of harassment include derogatory remarks and threats (direct or indirect) (Treharne et al., 2016). The New Zealand Crime and Victims Survey indicates rainbow adults (aged 18 to 79 years) report higher rates of crime victimisation compared to

non-rainbow adults (46 percent and 32 percent, respectively) (Plum & Zhuge, 2024). Rainbow adults are more likely to experience negative consequences related to victimisation, such as physical injuries and taking time off work (Plum & Zhuge, 2024).

High school students with diverse sexualities in Aotearoa are about 3 times more likely to experience school bullying on a weekly basis and transgender students are about 5 times more likely to experience school bullying on a weekly basis (OR=4.5) compared to their non-rainbow peers (Clark et al., 2014; Fenaughty et al., 2021; Lucassen et al., 2015). The Counting Ourselves survey found transgender people who experience high levels of discrimination are more likely to experience psychological distress in the past month (OR=1.3) and to have tried to take their own life in the past year (OR=1.4) compared to their peers who reported fewer experiences of discrimination (Tan et al., 2021). More local research is needed looking at the association between discrimination and mental health and wellbeing.

Support from whānau and friends is a key protective factor against mental health challenges among rainbow youth (Tan et al., 2021). However, transgender and diverse gender students are less likely to report having at least one parent who cares about them a lot compared to cisgender students (64 percent and 94 percent respectively) (Clark et al., 2014; Fenaughty et al., 2021). Rainbow youth are more likely to have tried to take their own life when whānau and religious leaders have suggested sexual orientation and gender identity change efforts (SOGICE) which are harmful practices based on discriminatory beliefs that disrupt positive identity development (Fenaughty et al., 2023).

Discrimination experienced by disabled youth

Globally, UNICEF estimates disabled children are 40 percent more likely to feel discriminated against compared to non-disabled children (UNICEF, 2021). Local data suggests experiences of discrimination among disabled people are increasing (Stats NZ, 2021). In Aotearoa, 40 percent of disabled adults reported experiencing discrimination in 2020, compared to 19 percent among non-disabled people (Stats NZ, 2021). Disabled children and youth experience multiple forms of discrimination, including racism, ableism, and disablism⁹ (Ingham et al., 2022). Internationally, disabled children are twice as likely to experience violence compared to their non-disabled peers (Fang et al., 2022).

The Youth19 study shows young disabled youth are more likely to experience discrimination when accessing healthcare (Clark et al., 2021). Parents of disabled children (2 to 14 years) are 9 times more likely to report their child having an unmet need for mental health or addiction support in the past 12 months, compared to non-disabled children (Ministry of Health, 2024a).

Discrimination and exclusion in education settings are common (Kearney, 2016). Among parents of disabled children and young people, about half say teacher and school principal

⁹ Discrimination of disability includes ableism (societal bias favouring people without disabilities) and disablism (overt discriminatory actions against disabled people).

attitudes are barriers to the availability and accessibility of education (Kearney, 2016). Parents are often concerned about physical segregation at school and feel pressured to keep their children at home due to a lack of school support and resources (Kearney, 2016). Similarly, disabled youth find it challenging to access the same resources and opportunities as their non-disabled counterparts (Barwick, 2024).

Disabled students are 1.6 times more likely to be bullied than non-disabled students (Mhuru & Ministry of Education, 2021). Disabled adults in Aotearoa are more likely to be victimised compared to the national average, and experience deliberate use of force or violence than non-disabled adults (Ministry of Justice, 2024). However, the influence of disability-based discrimination on mental wellbeing is yet to be examined locally, and there is also a need to understand the factors that could help protect children and young people against the negative effects of discrimination.

Intersectionality

Many children and young people have multiple social identities and are part of various communities. This can compound exposure to different forms of discrimination and oppression. An intersectional approach that considers multiple identities and various forms of discrimination is therefore needed to fully understand the contexts of child and youth wellbeing (N. Simon-Kumar, 2023).

International research shows people who experience multiple forms of discrimination are more likely to report symptoms of depression (Vargas et al., 2020). Locally, symptoms of depression are more common among rainbow rangatahi Māori and Pasifika youth (compared to their non-rainbow counterparts), and more common among disabled rangatahi Māori and Pasifika youth (compared to their non-disabled counterparts), as well as disabled rainbow youth (compared to non-rainbow and non-disabled youth) (Roy et al., 2021, 2023).

5. Whānau environment

Section summary

Positive whānau relationships and environment are protective factors for mental health and wellbeing (Whitaker et al., 2022). Whānau connectedness and wellbeing are also important cultural components of Māori health and wellbeing (Durie, 1985; Stuart & Jose, 2014; Te Maringi Mai o Hawaiiki et al., 2024).

In Aotearoa, most children and young people report having positive and supportive whānau relationships, especially with their parents (Evans et al., 2023; Ministry of Health, 2024a; Stats NZ, 2022a).

Local research indicates positive parenting and whānau relationships are associated with better mental health and wellbeing (Ball, Zhang, et al., 2022; D'Souza et al., 2019; Fletcher et al., 2023; Raja et al., 1992). Parental setting of rules around alcohol use is a protective factor against risky drinking by adolescents, while low parental monitoring is associated with very high-risk drinking (Sharmin, Kypri, Khanam, Wadolowski, Bruno, Attia, et al., 2017; Sharmin, Kypri, Khanam, Wadolowski, Bruno, & Mattick, 2017; Yap et al., 2017).

Longitudinal studies in Aotearoa indicate that authoritarian and punishing parental styles, poor maternal mental health, and lower parental attachment, contribute to increased risks of mental health challenges and problematic substance use.

Family structure can impact wellbeing, with higher levels of stress and psychological distress found among adolescents and parents living in one parent and step-families (Gath, 2022). Young people who have been involved with Oranga Tamariki are also more likely to report symptoms of depression and having tried to take their own life in the past year (Fleming et al., 2022).

Overall, there is a need for more high-quality research in Aotearoa using consistent measures of whānau relationships and the environment to better understand the protective role in mental health and wellbeing. Regular monitoring of whānau wellbeing has only recently commenced in the New Zealand Health Survey and General Social Survey, so currently there is not sufficient data to observe trends over time and understand the effects on mental health.

This section examines: 1) whānau relationships and parenting factors, 2) household structure, 3) parental mental health, and 4) involvement with social services.

Whānau relationships and parenting factors

Research uses varying definitions and measures for whānau relationships and parenting (McLeod, Weisz, et al., 2007). For example, whānau dynamics can include whānau

connectedness, flexibility, outlook, emotional sharing, or collaborative problem solving (Ramaswami et al., 2022).

The International Survey of Children's Well-Being indicates most adolescents report high levels of whānau connection (care, support, safety, respect, and participation) (Whitaker et al., 2022). Similarly, young people in Aotearoa generally experience positive and strong whānau relationships. Over 90 percent of young people in the Growing up in New Zealand study (at age 12) report feeling they can always or often count on their parents to help them when they have a problem (Evans et al., 2023). Similarly, 95 percent of young people (aged 15 to 24) feel they can turn to whānau for support in times of crisis, and over 80 percent report high or very high levels of whānau wellbeing (Ministry of Health, 2024a; Stats NZ, 2022a). In line with this, 79 percent of parents and caregivers feel they are coping well or very well with the demands of raising children, and 93 percent have emotional support for parenting (Ministry of Health, 2024a).

The quality of whānau relationships depends in part on other contextual factors. International research indicates whānau connection tends to be stronger among young people living with both parents and those who have never experienced household financial worries or food insecurity (Whitaker et al., 2022). While the closeness of child-parent relationships is similar across ethnic groups in Aotearoa (Evans et al., 2023), transgender and non-binary young people report having less trusting and communicative relationships with parents compared to their cisgender counterparts (Evans et al., 2023). The Growing Up in New Zealand study found young people living in the most deprived neighbourhoods experienced less trusting and communicative relationships with their parents (Evans et al., 2023). Increasing rates of poverty and food insecurity in Aotearoa can negatively impact on whānau relationships. Some evidence suggests single parent families find it harder to ask for support than other family types, including financial and emotional support (Stats NZ, 2022a).

Both local and international research has examined the impact of whānau relationships and dynamics on mental health. Meta-analyses looking at whānau relationships and dynamics have not found large pooled odds ratios (Guerrero-Muñoz et al., 2021; McEvoy et al., 2023). While this largely reflects the need for more high-quality research using consistent measures to enable greater comparability of findings across studies, some key studies are described below. Moreover, whānau can have a broader meaning in the Aotearoa context which needs to be taken in consideration.

Looking at parenting factors, depression and anxiety symptoms among children and adolescents tend to be higher among those who experience low parental warmth, abusive parenting, high aversiveness (such as harsh criticism and parent-child conflict), overinvolvement (such as excessive control and interference with autonomy), and conflict between parents (Yap et al., 2014; Yap & Jorm, 2015). Parenting factors appear to influence symptoms of depression more than anxiety, however, this might reflect the greater research focus on depression (McLeod, Weisz, et al., 2007; McLeod, Wood, et al., 2007; Yap et al., 2014).

Locally, the Christchurch Health and Development Study found elevated rates of mental health challenges, substance use and offending in young people exposed to negative whānau environments during childhood (Fergusson et al., 1994; Fergusson & Horwood, 1998). When children in the Growing Up in New Zealand study were aged 4.5 years, behavioural difficulties, measured using the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire, were associated with poor maternal mental health, physical punishment, and authoritarian parenting styles (D'Souza et al., 2019). These relationships are complex and often bidirectional. When the cohort were aged 12 years, those with less supportive child-parent relationships were more likely to experience symptoms of depression and anxiety (Fletcher et al., 2023). The Dunedin Multidisciplinary Health and Development Study also found low levels of parental and peer attachment increased the likelihood of poorer mental health in adolescence (Raja et al., 1992). The analysis indicates parental attachment may be a more important predictor than peer attachment for some aspects of mental wellbeing.

For Pasifika children, positive parenting and parental relationships are key protective factors against symptoms of depression (Paterson et al., 2014, 2018). Conversely, poor quality relationships with mothers increases the chances of symptoms of depression among Aotearoa-born Pasifika adolescents (Gossage et al., 2022).

For substance use, parental supply of alcohol is associated with risky drinking in adolescents (OR 2.0), whereas parental setting of rules around alcohol use is a protective factor for risky drinking (OR 0.7) (Sharmin, Kypri, Khanam, Wadolowski, Bruno, Attia, et al., 2017; Sharmin, Kypri, Khanam, Wadolowski, Bruno, & Mattick, 2017). Parental drinking and favourable parental attitudes towards alcohol use is also associated with risky drinking among adolescents (Yap et al., 2017).

In the Youth2000 study, the likelihood of very high-risk drinking was 2 to 3 times higher among secondary school students who reported low parental monitoring (OR=2.9), not always feeling safe at home (OR=2.6), getting enough quality whānau time (OR=2.4), and having trusted whānau to share their feelings with (OR=1.9) (Ball, Zhang, et al., 2022). The Youth2000 study also found that rangatahi Māori who had a whānau member or close friend die by suicide are 4.2 times more likely to also have tried to take their own life (Clark et al., 2011). On the other hand, a Youth 19 study found whānau acceptance lowered the likelihood of symptoms of depression and anxiety, and thoughts of taking their own life among Asian rainbow youth (Koh et al., 2024).

Parental mental health

Parental mental health can contribute to child and youth mental health through a combination of genetic and environmental factors (Manning & Gregoire, 2006).

In the Growing Up in New Zealand cohort, symptoms of depression in mothers were significantly associated with symptoms of depression in children (Fletcher et al., 2023). This aligns with international literature showing maternal depression and anxiety during pregnancy and childhood can negatively impact on the child's socio-emotional development

(Goodman et al., 2011; Morales et al., 2023; Rogers et al., 2020). Paternal depression can also negatively impact children's emotional development (Sweeney & MacBeth, 2016). The association between parent and child mental health may be partially mediated by parenting factors (such as involvement in the child's care, hostility, harsh or ineffective discipline), parent-child relationship (such as attachment style), and marital conflict (Honda et al., 2023; Śliwerski et al., 2020; Sweeney & MacBeth, 2016).

Household structure

Across all family types (such as living with two biological parents, single-parent, and step-families), whānau belonging predicts adolescent wellbeing (including symptoms of depression) (King et al., 2018). Adolescents in single-parent and step-families report lower levels of wellbeing compared to those living with two biological parents (King et al., 2018). Locally, recent analysis of longitudinal data from the Survey of Families, Income and Employment (SoFIE), further indicates parents and late adolescents living in one parent and step-families report higher symptoms of stress and psychological distress, along with lower physical health, compared to those living in two parent families (Gath, 2022). The link between living in sole parent household and child mental health is complex and partly depends on parental wellbeing and socioeconomic status (Gath, 2022; Tobias et al., 2010).

Involvement with social services

Whānau circumstances, such as abuse and neglect (Karatekin et al., 2022; Scully et al., 2020), may contribute to poor mental health and involvement with social services.

Overseas, young people who receive foster care tend to be more likely to experience mental health problems and 3.9 times more likely to experience self-harm (Dubois-Comtois et al., 2021; McEvoy et al., 2023).

The Youth19 study shows young people who have been involved with Oranga Tamariki are 2.9 times more likely to report symptoms of depression and 4.7 times more likely to report having tried to take their own life in the last year compared to those who have never been involved with Oranga Tamariki (Fleming et al., 2022). Young people who have been involved with Oranga Tamariki highlight the importance of having a voice in decision-making about their lives, having people who love and care about them, being treated fairly in school and community settings, and access to basic material needs, such as food and housing (Fleming et al., 2020).

Negative experiences whilst under State care are associated with poor mental health. The Abuse in Care – Royal Commission of Inquiry (2024) shows many people who were in State and faith-based care when they were young have experienced abuse and neglect. This has led to long-term negative impacts on their mental health and emotional wellbeing, relationships, physical health, education and employment opportunities, and access to housing.

6. Peer relationships, connectedness, and loneliness

Section summary

Relationships with peers (including friendships) are an important protective factor for children and young peoples' mental health as they provide social and emotional support outside of the home environment (Mitic et al., 2021).

In Aotearoa, most young people report having regular contact with friends and trusting friendships (Stats NZ, 2022b). However, less than half feel they can confide in friends about their problems and nearly 1 in 10 feel lonely most or all of the time (Evans et al., 2023; Stats NZ, 2022b). There are concerns that loneliness among young people is increasing, but more data is needed to monitor trends over time.

Local research shows social connectedness and supportive peer relationships are associated with fewer symptoms of depression and anxiety (Fletcher et al., 2023). In contrast, negative peer relationships and peer coercion can potentially lead to greater symptoms of depression and problematic substance use (Jose, 2015; Jose et al., 2012; McDonough et al., 2016). Research also identifies differences in peer connectedness across groups.

Overall, there is a need for more research using consistent measures looking at the impact of peer relationships on child and youth mental health and substance use (De Risio et al., 2024; Pearce et al., 2023; Wickramaratne et al., 2022).

A range of social constructs and measures are used across the literature to look at peer relationships, including connectedness, loneliness, social support, and social capital (De Risio et al., 2024; Pearce et al., 2023; Wickramaratne et al., 2022). The Ministry of Social Development identifies three interrelated core components of social connectedness that influence wellbeing: socialising (such as interacting and spending time with people), social support (such as received support or perceived availability of support), and sense of belonging (such as feeling valued by others and not feeling lonely).

In Aotearoa, most young people report having regular contact with friends and trusting friendships. Young people often use social media and technology to support social connection and community building (Duffy et al., 2024; Te Hiringa Mahara, 2022). The 2021 General Social Survey indicates 80 to 90 percent of young adults (aged 15 to 24 years) have weekly contact with friends, which is more regular compared to other stages of adult life (Stats NZ, 2022b). The Growing Up in New Zealand study further indicates 85 percent of young people (at aged 12) report almost always or often trusting their friends (Evans et al., 2023). However, less than half of young people feel they can often tell their friends about their problems and troubles, and that their friends encourage them to do so (Evans et al., 2023). Cisgender girls tend to report stronger peer relationships compared to other genders (Evans et al., 2023).

Internationally, there are growing concerns that loneliness is increasing among young people (World Health Organization, n.d.). A meta-analysis indicates the pooled prevalence of loneliness among adolescents in the Western Pacific region is around 10 percent, though the study included no data from Australia or New Zealand (Surkalim et al., 2022). Locally, the 2021 General Social Survey indicates young adults experience higher rates of loneliness compared to other adult age groups, with 7 percent reporting feeling lonely most or all of the time (Stats NZ, 2022b).

Impact on wellbeing

Across the international literature, positive peer relationships and social support networks contribute to children's subjective wellbeing, while negative peer interactions can have the opposite effect (McPherson et al., 2014; Moreira et al., 2021). The quantity and quality of friendships and peer attachment have also been found to influence symptoms of depression in young people (De Risio et al., 2024). While there is consistent support for the link between social connectedness and depression, more high-quality research using consistent measures of peer relationships is needed (De Risio et al., 2024; Pearce et al., 2023; Wickramaratne et al., 2022).

In Aotearoa, social connectedness protects against symptoms of depression and anxiety among adolescents (Jose, 2015; Jose et al., 2012; McDonough et al., 2016). Similarly, among Pasifika children, positive peer relationships protect against symptoms of depression (Gossage et al., 2022; Paterson et al., 2014, 2018). In contrast, low quality peer relationships were associated with symptoms of depression and anxiety at age 12 in the Growing Up in New Zealand cohort (Fletcher et al., 2023). The Dunedin Multidisciplinary Health and Development Study also found social isolation during childhood increases the likelihood of major depression in adulthood by 1.8 times (Danese et al., 2009).

Perceived popularity among peers is associated with higher rates of general substance use in adolescents (Cole et al., 2024). Other local research shows negative peer relationships and peer coercion predict increased use of substances (Jose, 2015; Jose et al., 2012; McDonough et al., 2016). Similarly, the Christchurch Health and Development Study found young people who affiliate with peers who engage in antisocial behaviours and/or substance use are more likely to experience problematic substance use and major depression (Fergusson et al., 2002, 2003).

7. Engagement with school and work

Section summary

School environment and engagement influences child and adolescent mental health and wellbeing.

Most students in Aotearoa report positive school engagement experiences. Local research indicates school connectedness is associated with fewer symptoms of depression and anxiety and thoughts of taking their own life (Garisch et al., 2016).

On the other hand, disconnection from school and work are often related to challenging whānau and social circumstances (Clark, Gontijo de Castro, et al., 2022). Only half of students across all ages attend school for more than 90 percent of the term (Education Counts, 2024b). This rate appears to be stable over time. COVID-19 appears to have impacted the rate of students leaving school early, with 1 in 2 students leaving school without completing the final stage of secondary education (Education Counts, 2024a).

Disconnection from school is common in Aotearoa, with around 1 in 8 young people (aged 15 to 24 years) not in employment, education, or training (NEET) (Stats NZ, 2024d). Young people in Aotearoa who are NEET are twice as likely to report symptoms of depression and anxiety, and self-harm compared to secondary school students (Clark, Gontijo de Castro, et al., 2022). They are also 3.5 times more likely to report having previously tried to take their own life in the past year (Clark, Gontijo de Castro, et al., 2022). Young people who leave school without qualifications are also more likely to experience problematic substance use in early adulthood (Boden et al., 2006).

Whilst there are likely to be multiple mechanisms by which school engagement impacts on mental health and substance use, this is an important contextual factor.

International research indicates school contributes to young people's social capital and is an important setting for implementing population-level mental health initiatives for children and adolescents (Kirkbride et al., 2024). School engagement includes behavioural, emotional, and cognitive engagement in learning (Tait et al., 2023). While the OECD has previously monitored school engagement, this indicator appears to be discontinued. OECD data from 2012 indicates around 9 in 10 students express positive attitudes towards school (OECD, 2024). In Aotearoa, the Ministry of Education monitors rates of attendance, stand-downs, suspensions and exclusions. In 2024, around half of students across all ages attended school regularly (defined as more than 90 percent of the term) (Education Counts, 2024b).

At age 12, most students (over 80 percent) report positive school engagement experiences (Tait et al., 2023).¹⁰ At this age, student engagement is strongly associated with student-teacher relationships and academic achievement (Tait et al., 2023). Teachers are often

38

¹⁰ Primary education includes primary and intermediate schools.

identified as a special adult relationship outside of whānau members (Evans et al., 2023). School engagement differs for some groups. Cisgender girls report high school engagement, whereas transgender and non-binary young people report lower engagement. Rangatahi Māori report lower school engagement compared to other ethnic groups (Tait et al., 2023). Lower school engagement is also found for disabled children and those with specific learning needs (Tait et al., 2023).

The OECD average for completing upper secondary education is around 70 to 80 percent (OECD, 2023). In Aotearoa, nearly 80 percent of students remained in school until their 17th birthday in 2023, but half left school without completing the final stage of secondary education (NCEA Level 3) (Education Counts, 2024a).¹¹ Ministry of Education data indicates declining rates of NCEA attainment and students remaining at school until at least 17 years of age (Education Counts, 2024a).¹² The Ministry attributes decreased student retention to increased living costs, a strong labour market, and disruptions to learning due to COVID-19 (Education Counts, 2024a). Student engagement appears to decrease in secondary education (ages 13 to 17 years) as rates of stand-downs, suspensions and exclusions tend to peak around the ages of 13 to 15 (Education Counts, 2024b).

Overseas research shows the positive impact of school connectedness on youth mental health and substance use (A. Arango et al., 2024; Rose et al., 2024; Yuen & Wu, 2024). Youth with high school connectedness are less likely to have thoughts of taking their own life (OR=0.5) or to try taking their own life (OR=0.6) (Marraccini & Brier, 2017). In contrast, young people who experience school withdrawal are 6.4 times more likely to self-harm, and school absenteeism increases the likelihood of thoughts of taking their own life by about 20 percent (McEvoy et al., 2023; Richardson et al., 2024).

In Aotearoa, the Christchurch Health and Development Study found young people who leave school without qualifications are more likely to experience problematic substance use in early adulthood (Boden et al., 2006). The Youth Wellbeing Study further indicates school connectedness is associated with lower rates of symptoms of depression and anxiety and thoughts of taking their own life (Garisch et al., 2016).

School connectedness appears to be particularly important for the mental health of students with poorer parental attachment (Garisch et al., 2016). A Youth19 analysis focused on Asian rainbow youth found feeling safe at school reduces symptoms of depression and anxiety and thoughts of taking their own life (Koh et al., 2024). For Pasifika children, school connectedness and high performance at school are protective factors against symptoms of depression (Gossage et al., 2022; Paterson et al., 2014). Conversely, the Youth2000 series indicates secondary school students who feel their teachers don't care about them are 2.7 times more likely to report very high-risk drinking (Ball, Zhang, et al., 2022).

¹² Note that NCEA (National Certificate of Educational Achievement) is the main secondary school qualification in Aotearoa, but some schools offer other qualifications such as Cambridge Assessment International Examinations.

¹¹ Ministry of Education states: "Students are legally required to attend schooling until age 16, unless they are granted an early leaving exemption."

Alternative education options are available for young people who are disengaged or alienated from mainstream schooling. The Youth19 study found female students in alternative education are 2.5 times more likely to experience self-harm and have tried to take their own life compared to female secondary school students (Clark et al., 2023).

Homeschooling rates are increasing in Aotearoa (Education Counts, 2025). Overseas research indicates homeschooling can be beneficial for child and adolescent mental health and patterns of substance use (Guterman & Neuman, 2017; Schepis et al., 2020; Vaughn et al., 2015). However, homeschooling may negatively impact on parental mental health and substance use (Baker, 2019; Deacon et al., 2021).

Youth not in employment, education or training (NEET)

Rates of youth in Aotearoa who are NEET is around 8 percent for 15 to 19 year olds and 14 percent for 20 to 24 year olds, similar to the OECD average (OECD, 2022). Rates of young adults (15 to 24 years) NEET have been fairly steady over recent years (Stats NZ, 2024d). Some groups are more likely to be NEET. The NEET rate among disabled young people (46 percent) is more than four times higher than for non-disabled young people (11 percent) (Whaikaha - Ministry of Disabled People, 2024). Locally, disabled youth are more concerned about unemployment and finding a job compared to young people in general; 3 in 4 disabled young people report their job seeking experience as poor (Ministry of Youth Development, 2011).

Internationally, young people who are NEET are more likely to experience mental health challenges, substance use problems, and co-existing problems (28, 43 and 38 percent higher respectively) (Gariépy et al., 2022). Similarly, the Youth19 study in Aotearoa shows young people who are NEET are about twice as likely to report symptoms of depression (OR=2.4), anxiety (OR=1.8), and self-harm (OR=2.1) compared to secondary school students (Clark, Gontijo de Castro, et al., 2022). They are also 3.5 times more likely to report having tried to take their own life in the past year (Clark, Gontijo de Castro, et al., 2022). Young people who are NEET are more likely to have experienced challenging whānau and social circumstances (Clark, Gontijo de Castro, et al., 2022).

8. Social media and technology

Section summary

The use of social media and technology is an important contextual factor, with emerging evidence of its role as a risk and protective factor (Duffy et al., 2024; Te Hiringa Mahara, 2022).

Young people have described both harmful and beneficial aspects of social media and technology. Around half of young people in Aotearoa agree social media is a big issue facing young people (Youthline & Kantar Public, 2023). Only 1 in 8 children meet current screen time guidelines, and the risk of exposure to harmful digital communications is higher locally than many other countries (Netsafe, 2018; Wilkinson et al., 2021).

International research suggests both too much and too little screen time can be detrimental to mental health (Wilkinson et al., 2021). Problematic levels of smartphone use and social media are associated with increased symptoms of depression and anxiety (Huang, 2022; Sohn et al., 2019; Yang et al., 2020).

There is increasing attention on the extent and impact of harmful digital communication. Exposure to harmful digital communication or content is considered high in Aotearoa. More than two-thirds of teenagers experienced at least one unwanted digital communication in the past year.

Overall, there is very little research in Aotearoa exploring the impact of social media and technology on child and youth mental health and substance use.

The body of literature focused on technology and its impact on child and youth mental health has grown since 2011 (Basu & Banerjee, 2020; Byrne et al., 2021). The relationship between child and youth mental health and digital environments is complex and requires further research using standardised measures of screen time and technology use (Byrne et al., 2021).

A Youthline survey shows nearly half of young people (49 percent) in Aotearoa agree that social media is a big issue facing young people (Youthline & Kantar Public, 2023). Young people are particularly concerned about social media's impact on mental health and social issues, the unrealistic or fake content, and expectations it sets for young people, and the addictive and pervasive nature of social media (Youthline & Kantar Public, 2023). Young people want to access tools and develop skills to keep themselves safe online, as well as safeguards and legislation to protect them from online harm (Te Hiringa Mahara, 2022). While young people identify social media and technology as an important issue, it can also be a beneficial tool for self-expression, social connection, education, community building, access to health advice, and emotional support (Cullen et al., 2024b; Duffy et al., 2024; Te Hiringa Mahara, 2022).

Time spent using technology

Estimates are only 1 in 8 children in Aotearoa meet the Ministry of Health's screen time guidelines (Wilkinson et al., 2021). Compared to many countries, internet use is high among young people in Aotearoa at approximately 42 hours per week on average (OECD, 2021). In comparison, the OECD average for internet use among young people was approximately 35 hours per week in 2018. High screen time rates could partly reflect the country's early adoption of digital technologies in schools and home confinement during the COVID-19 pandemic (Cullen et al., 2024b, 2024a).

Nearly 1 in 4 (23 percent) children and young people are estimated to experience problematic smartphone use, which is characterised by excessive or problematic use, negative impacts on daily life, and distress when unable to use their phone (Sohn et al., 2019). Internet gaming disorder (recognised in the DSM-5-TR) is estimated to affect around 1 in 10 adolescents and young adults (Gao et al., 2022).¹⁴

Screen time and mental health are thought to have an inverse U-shaped relationship, where too much or too little screen time can be detrimental to mental health (Wilkinson et al., 2021). Research focused on digital access shows adolescents without internet access are more likely to report lower subjective wellbeing (Grimes & White, 2019). Digital exclusion may limit young people's social connection, school engagement, and access to information (Metherell et al., 2022). Lack of internet access can reflect household circumstances which can also impact wellbeing; it is more likely to affect people living in social housing and low income households and disabled people (Grimes & White, 2019). On the other hand, problematic smartphone use triples the odds of experiencing symptoms of depression and anxiety (Sohn et al., 2019; Yang et al., 2020). Problematic social media use (characterised as excessive use, preoccupation, and compulsion with negative impacts on daily life) is moderately correlated with stress and symptoms of depression and anxiety (Boer et al., 2020; Huang, 2022; Shannon et al., 2022).

In Aotearoa, there is a need for more cross-sectional and longitudinal research examining the relationship between technology use and mental health among children and youth. In the 1980s, the Dunedin Multidisciplinary Health and Development Study looked at the amount of television viewing during the cohort's childhood and adolescence. Excessive television viewing is associated with an increased risk of anxiety, problematic substance use and gambling, and antisocial behaviours in adulthood (McAnally et al., 2019, 2024; Robertson et al., 2013). The Growing Up in New Zealand study is yet to look at the psychological impacts of screen time, but an earlier analysis indicates high levels of screen time at age 2 can negatively impact children's cognitive development before age 5 (Corkin et al., 2021).

(DSM-5-TR) is a diagnostic tool used by mental health professionals.

 ¹³ The Ministry of Health recommends: no screen use for children under 2 years of age, less than 1 hour per day for children aged 2 to 5, and less than 2 hours per day for children aged 5 to 17.
 ¹⁴ The American Psychiatric Association's *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*

Exposure to harmful digital communications

The use of digital technology can expose children and youth to harmful digital communications. Globally, 67 percent of children (aged 8 to 18 years) were exposed to cyber risks in 2023. This includes cyberbullying, exposure to inappropriate content, and contact with strangers (DQ Institute, 2023). Adolescents who experience cyberbullying victimisation are more likely to experience depression (OR=2.7) and externalising problems such as substance use and aggression (Fisher et al., 2016; Tran et al., 2023).

In Aotearoa, the risk of exposure to harmful digital communications is higher than many other countries; 70 percent of teenagers report experiencing at least one unwanted digital communication in the past year. Moreover, 4 in 5 of these teenagers had a negative emotional response to the unwanted digital communication (Netsafe, 2018).

9. Socioeconomic factors

Section summary

Low socioeconomic status can negatively influence child and youth mental health and problematic substance use, through limiting access to resources, financial stressors and material hardship (Kirkbride et al., 2024; Reiss, 2013).

Aotearoa has child poverty rates slightly above the OECD average. Local data indicates household food insecurity rates have increased since COVID-19 and the global recession (Ministry of Health, 2024a). Currently 1 in 4 children experience household food insecurity where food runs out often or sometimes (Ministry of Health, 2024a).

Children and youth in Aotearoa living in poverty or the most deprived areas are more likely to experience symptoms of depression compared to those who are not experiencing socioeconomic disadvantage (Denny et al., 2016; Fletcher et al., 2023). This may reflect in part factors such as parental stress, whānau conflict, and limited access to high-quality schooling and health care (K. Gibson et al., 2017; Yoshikawa et al., 2012).

Socioeconomic status reflects social stratification and unequal access to resources (Kirkbride et al., 2024). It is a multifaced construct that includes education, employment, and income. Socioeconomic disadvantage can manifest as financial stress and material hardship such as access to food, housing, and healthcare (Kirkbride et al., 2024).

The child poverty rate in Aotearoa (14 percent) is slightly above the OECD average and is being closely monitored under the Child Poverty Reduction Act 2018.

In the year ended June 2024, Stats NZ (2024) reports the following child poverty estimates.

- About 13 percent of children live in households with less than 50 percent of the
 median household equivalised disposable income *before* housing costs (the
 Government's target is to reduce this rate to 5 percent by 2027/28). The percentages
 are highest in Southland, Auckland and Waikato regions, with MELAA and Asian
 (followed by Māori and Pacific) more affected.
- Eighteen percent of children live in households with less than 50 percent of the median household equivalised disposable income *after* housing costs (the Government's target is to reduce this rate to 10 percent by 2027/28). The population groups most affected are MELAA and Asian peoples.
- Thirteen percent of children live in households in material hardship (based on the DEP-17 index) (the Government's target is to reduce this rate to 6 percent by 2027/28). The populations most affected are Pacific and Māori. ¹⁵

¹⁵ These measures and targets are defined in the <u>Child Poverty Reduction Act 2018</u>. Data is collected through the Household Economic Survey. The 'median household equivalised disposable income' is the median disposable income for the year which is equivalised by taking into account household size and composition.

New Zealand Health Survey data from 2023/24 indicates 1 in 4 children (27 percent) experience household food insecurity (where food runs out often or sometimes), which has significantly increased since 2019/20 (Ministry of Health, 2024a). Further data from the Growing Up in New Zealand study indicates 1 in 10 young people (aged 12) experienced material hardship and 1 in 14 experienced homelessness (Grant et al., 2023; Lai et al., 2023). Measures of material hardships are higher among Māori, Pasifika, and disabled children and children living in households with a disabled parent or sibling, which reflects the inequitable access to resources underpinned by societal prejudice and discrimination (Duncanson et al., 2022; Gerritsen et al., 2024; K. Gibson et al., 2017; Leadley, 2023).

The Growing Up in New Zealand found young people living in the most deprived areas were more likely to experience symptoms of depression compared to those living in the least deprived areas, but no differences were found for symptoms of anxiety (Fletcher et al., 2023). Similarly, the Youth19 study indicates secondary school students experiencing poverty are 2 to 3 times more likely to report symptoms of depression compared to students not experiencing poverty (Denny et al., 2016). This is in line with international research which shows socioeconomically disadvantaged children and young people are 2 to 3 times more likely to experience mental health challenges compared to those who are not experiencing socioeconomic disadvantage (Reiss, 2013).

A range of factors may explain the relationship between socioeconomic factors and mental health. International research suggests this includes whānau factors (such as parental stress and mental health, parenting factors, and trauma exposure), institutional factors (such as poor access to quality health care, schooling, and employment), and community factors (such as levels of violence and social cohesion) (K. Gibson et al., 2017; Yoshikawa et al., 2012). Similarly, a Growing Up in New Zealand analysis indicates maternal stress and screen time partly explain the association between lower household income and children's behavioural challenges (Monk et al., 2024). They found children in lower income households tend to have higher levels of maternal stress, screen time, and behavioural challenges (Monk et al., 2024).

10. Substance use

Section summary

Harmful use of substances among young people is an important contextual factor that influences the likelihood of later developing mental health challenges and ongoing problematic substance use.

Young people are concerned about potential harms related to access to alcohol and drugs, particularly vaping (the use of electronic cigarettes or vape devices) (Fleming et al., 2020; Youthline & Kantar Public, 2023). The use of alcohol, tobacco, and cannabis in Aotearoa among adolescents has declined in recent years, though binge drinking rates remain high, and vaping is increasing (Ministry of Health, 2024a).

The relationship between mental health and substance use is bi-directional and can co-occur. There is also a dose-response relationship for alcohol and cannabis use; where higher levels of alcohol or cannabis use are associated with greater risks of mental health challenges and problematic substance use (Fergusson, Boden, et al., 2013; Fergusson et al., 2009; Horwood et al., 2012; McGee et al., 2000; Poulton et al., 2020; Wells et al., 2004).

International research shows vaping can increase the likelihood of depression, anxiety, and thoughts of taking their own life among children and young people (Javed et al., 2022; Khan et al., 2023; Livingston et al., 2022). However, there is little local research looking at the psychological effects of vaping on mental health and substance use.

Access to alcohol and drugs and their harmful effects are key concerns among young people in Aotearoa (Fleming et al., 2020). Māori and Pacific adolescents are more likely to be concerned about their alcohol use compared to their New Zealand European peers (Ameratunga et al., 2019).

Globally, while alcohol is the most consumed substance among young people, trend data indicates alcohol consumption is declining among adolescents living in high-income countries (Vashishtha et al., 2021). Internationally, more than half of 15 year olds report having tried alcohol (57 percent), while one-third (32 percent) have tried vaping, and 12 percent cannabis (World Health Organization, 2024).

In Aotearoa, adolescent use of alcohol, tobacco, and cannabis has declined since the early 2000s, though vaping is increasing and rates of binge drinking remain high (Ball, Crossin, et al., 2022). These patterns are in line with international trends (Ball, Crossin, et al., 2022). A Youthline survey suggests youth are currently more worried about vaping than use of alcohol and other drugs (Youthline & Kantar Public, 2023). In the 2023/24 New Zealand Health Survey, around 1 in 2 young people aged 15 to 24 report having ever tried vaping and 1 in 5 report vaping daily (21 percent) (Ministry of Health, 2024a). For alcohol, nearly 1 in 5 young people report heavy episodic or binge drinking in the past month (19 percent) and

hazardous drinking patterns (17 percent). Nearly 1 in 4 young people report cannabis use in the past year (24 percent) and 8 percent uses cannabis weekly (Ministry of Health, 2024a).

Mental health challenges and problematic substance use often occur together and influence each other (Cairns et al., 2014; Esmaeelzadeh et al., 2018). This may be due to a range of reasons including similar underlying causes or contextual factors, use of substances to help cope with mental health symptoms, and substances that can lead to mental health symptoms (Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, 2023). Alcohol use, binge drinking, and cannabis use are associated with developing higher levels of depression in longitudinal studies (Cairns et al., 2014). Cannabis use can increase the likelihood of developing depression by 17 to 33 percent (62 percent for heavy cannabis use) and anxiety by 28 per cent (Esmaeelzadeh et al., 2018; Kedzior & Laeber, 2014; Lev-Ran et al., 2014). One review indicates cannabis use is more likely to lead to depression than the other way around (Esmaeelzadeh et al., 2018). Young people are more likely to engage in self-harm if they use cannabis or other drugs (OR=4.4) or experience harmful alcohol use such as binge drinking (OR=2.7) (McEvoy et al., 2023).

In Aotearoa, higher levels of substance use are associated with greater symptoms of depression, self-harm, and thoughts of taking their own life among secondary school students (Fleming et al., 2014). High levels of substance use also impact subsequent mental health challenges and problematic substance use in early adulthood. The Christchurch Health and Development Study found substance use disorders are more likely to lead to depression rather than the other way around (Fergusson, Boden, et al., 2013; Fergusson et al., 2009, 2011). Whereas substance use disorder and anxiety appear to have a more reciprocal relationship (Fergusson et al., 2011).

Alcohol use appears to have a dose-response relationship with mental health, where higher levels of alcohol use are associated with greater risks of mental health challenges (Fergusson, Boden, et al., 2013; Fergusson et al., 2009; McGee et al., 2000; Wells et al., 2004). Both the Dunedin and Christchurch longitudinal studies found that while problematic alcohol use predicts depression in early adulthood, general alcohol consumption did not (Fergusson, Boden, et al., 2013; Fergusson et al., 2009; McGee et al., 2000; Wells et al., 2004). Age of first drinking has been linked with subsequent problematic substance use, however, the impact appears to depend on factors such as household socioeconomic status, whānau dynamics, and parental alcohol-related attitudes (Newton-Howes & Boden, 2016). Age of first drinking does not appear to be associated with subsequent depression or anxiety (Newton-Howes & Boden, 2016).

For cannabis use, there is a dose-response relationship where higher levels of cannabis use are associated with greater risks of mental health challenges, particularly psychosis and depression (Horwood et al., 2012; Poulton et al., 2020). The Dunedin Multidisciplinary Health and Development Study found cannabis use led to subsequent mental health conditions in early adulthood, but in adolescence mental health conditions are likely to lead to cannabis use (McGee et al., 2000). Daily cannabis use increases the likelihood of

symptoms of psychosis by 1.6 to 1.8 times in young people compared to no cannabis use (Fergusson, Horwood, & Ridder, 2005). In young adulthood, more frequent cannabis use is associated with thoughts of taking own life among males, and a higher risk of illicit drug use (Fergusson et al., 2006; van Ours et al., 2013).

While vaping is seen as a harm reduction strategy for reducing use of tobacco cigarettes, it is important to understand its impact on youth mental health. There is a need for more high-quality research both internationally and locally, particularly longitudinal studies, to understand the psychological impacts of vaping on children and youth (Beckert & Jones, 2018; Javed et al., 2022). The available international research indicates vaping increases the risk of depression, anxiety, and thoughts of taking one's own life among children and young people (Javed et al., 2022; Khan et al., 2023; Livingston et al., 2022). Moreover, a US study found more frequent and sustained vaping among adolescents is associated with greater symptoms of depression (Lechner et al., 2017).

Discussion

This narrative review provides a deeper understanding of 10 key contextual factors driving mental health challenges and problematic substance use among children and young people. The review identifies several emerging factors, as well as those specific to Aotearoa which have been less well researched.

The findings emphasise the importance of contextual factors in understanding, preventing and responding more effectively to mental health challenges and problematic substance use among children and young people. Contextual factors need to be included in child and youth mental health and addiction prevalence studies, as well as other national children and youth studies, in order to inform population prevention and early intervention strategies, and achieve health equity (Menzies et al., 2020; Office of the Auditor-General, 2024).

The following sections summarise key findings and discuss potential next steps to better understand the contextual factors influencing child and youth mental health and substance use in Aotearoa.

Key findings

This review brings together international and local research on a wide range of contextual factors that influence and impact on mental health and substance use among children and young people. The 10 key contextual factors explored are (in alphabetical order): 1) adverse childhood experiences (including child maltreatment), 2) bullying victimisation, 3) cultural identity, 4) experiences of discrimination, 5) whānau environment, 6) peer relationships, 7) engagement with school and work, 8) social media and technology, 9) socioeconomic factors, and 10) substance use.

This review identifies the protective effects of having positive and supportive whānau and peer relationships, a strong sense of cultural identity, and being engaged with school or work. These factors contribute to the strengths and wellbeing of children and youth (Han et al., 2023; Karatekin et al., 2022). These protective factors are widespread; most young people in Aotearoa have positive relationships with parents and peers, as well as positive experiences with school (Evans et al., 2023; Stats NZ, 2022a, 2022c; Tait et al., 2023).

Many of the contextual factors examined in this review have negative influences, and for some at least double the likelihood of mental health challenges and problematic substance use among children and youth. Consistent and strong impacts were found for childhood maltreatment (particularly sexual harm and abuse), multiple childhood adversities, bullying victimisation, experiences of discrimination, and a lack of engagement in employment, education or training (Clark, Gontijo de Castro, et al., 2022; Crengle et al., 2012; Fergusson et al., 1996; Fergusson & Lynskey, 1997; Hashemi et al., 2021; Li et al., 2022; Tan et al., 2021; A. D. Williams et al., 2018). These are the strongest negative influences for children and youth. Particular consideration should be given to examining trauma and adverse

childhood experiences in any prevalence study of mental health challenges and problematic substance use.

Contextual factors disproportionately impact on children and youth (Dizon et al., 2024; Fleming et al., 2024). Many of the factors are driven by underlying structural and socioeconomic circumstances that are crucial to understand to achieve health equity. Children and youth who are Māori, Pasifika, from migrant and refugee backgrounds, identify as rainbow, living with a disability, living in poverty, or involved with Oranga Tamariki are often more impacted by contextual factors. Taking collective action on contextual factors and large-scale social issues (such as housing, food, and discrimination) is key to addressing inequities in mental health (Fleming et al., 2024). It is also important to ensure services and support are whānau-centred, holistic, and culturally safe for children and young people (Fleming et al., 2024).

The most prevalent factors among children and young people that can negatively impact wellbeing include excessive screen time and internet use, unwanted digital communications, loneliness, binge drinking, and vaping (Ministry of Health, 2024a; Netsafe, 2018; Wilkinson et al., 2021). Understanding the association between these negative contextual factors and the experience of mental health challenges and problematic substance use in children and youth is important to consider for future studies.

Due to societal changes, some contextual factors are becoming more widespread over time and subsequently changing trends in the prevalence of child and youth mental health challenges and problematic substance use in the population. Local data indicates rising rates of youth vaping, family harm, unwanted sexual experiences, loneliness, household food insecurity, school withdrawal, and unemployment (Ball, Crossin, et al., 2022; Education Counts, 2024a; Fleming et al., 2021; Ministry of Health, 2024a; New Zealand Family Violence Clearinghouse, n.d.; New Zealand Police, 2024). Given their influence on mental health and substance use, consideration needs to be given to how frequently these contextual factors are monitored over time.

Gaps in the literature

This review relies heavily on overseas evidence for some contextual factors, especially emerging influences arising from societal changes. This includes factors such as vaping, social media and technology (such as screen time) where more local research is needed to understand the long-term impacts on children and youth. Consideration should be given to inclusion of emerging factors into the child and youth prevalence study given the current lack of evidence. Other areas requiring further research in Aotearoa include whānau wellbeing, cultural identity, disability, loneliness, school connectedness, and bullying victimisation, as well as discrimination experienced by rainbow and disabled youth. While population data is being collected for many of these factors, more analysis is required to examine their impact on mental health challenges and problematic substance use.

There has been robust research from the Christchurch and Dunedin longitudinal studies looking at well-established contextual factors. However, both cohorts were born in the 1970s which means study findings are becoming less relevant to younger generations. We need updated research around childhood maltreatment, socioeconomic disadvantage, whānau environment, peer relationships, education, and substance use. Moreover, some emerging contextual factors which are increasingly recognised as important (Maessen et al., 2023), were not present at the time these cohorts were studied (such as social media, vaping, and climate anxiety).

These research gaps have important implications for the prevalence study, routine surveys, longitudinal studies, and other public health research in Aotearoa. There needs to be a clear long-term plan for understanding and monitoring the impact of contextual factors on mental health, substance use and wellbeing. Further analysis of local data sets may help fill these research gaps, particularly data collected through the Growing Up in New Zealand study and New Zealand Health Survey.

In examining the literature, we observed a lack of consistent definitions and methods for measuring some contextual factors. For example, while the ACEs questionnaire is commonly used across the published literature, many ACE studies adapt the questionnaire to include different types of childhood adversities (Karatekin et al., 2022). The use of varying constructs and measures across studies means it can be difficult to compare results and draw clear conclusions about the associations between contextual factors and mental health challenges and problematic substance use. This means the prevalence study needs to carefully consider which constructs and measures are used to examine contextual factors, including their cultural appropriateness (Ellison-Loschmann, Jefferys & McKenzie, 2024)

Limitations

Many contextual factors are likely missed in this review. Factors examined largely reflect international research interests, research availability, and the scopes of the review papers which guided selection of factors. For example, international research has less focus on colonisation and disability compared to local literature. Research is also often focused on detrimental rather than positive or protective influences. Since our selection of factors was heavily guided by international research, the review likely misses important factors for Māori and young people with lived experience of mental health challenges and problematic substance use in Aotearoa.

Important contextual factors missing from this review include, but are not limited to, perinatal and parental mental health, self-care, community factors (such as neighbourhood safety), access to good-quality health services, and commercial determinants (such as commercial regulations around the sale of food and alcohol and regulation of gambling products). Additionally, other emerging factors arising from societal changes not included here are climate anxiety, intergenerational inequality, political unrest, the ongoing effects of the

COVID-19 pandemic, and increasing access and exposure to pornography, artificial intelligence, and other potentially harmful internet content.

While physical health, physical activity, diet, and sleep did not meet the criteria for the review, they are important contextual factors for mental health, substance use and wellbeing. This partly reflects the range of constructs and varying measures used in studies. Globally, long-term physical health conditions affect 10 to 12 percent of children and young people (Thabrew et al., 2018). Children and young people with a long-term physical health problem, are more likely to report symptoms of depression compared to their healthy peers (Pinquart & Shen, 2011). The effects of chronic physical illness in childhood have been found to persist into adulthood, with higher risks of depression and anxiety (Secinti et al., 2017).

Mental health among children and young people is linked with physical activity (Rodriguez-Ayllon et al., 2019). While the positive effects of physical activity interventions are emerging, findings are not consistent. The effects of physical activity may depend on age, with some evidence indicating interventions have a more positive effect on older children (Andermo et al., 2020). For diet, there is growing evidence supporting an association between consumption of a healthy diet and lower levels of depression and greater wellbeing among children and young people (Collins et al., 2022; Guzek et al., 2020; Khalid et al., 2016). While reported effect sizes tend to be small, the impact may be higher for anxiety (Collins et al., 2022; Khalid et al., 2016).

This review was limited by review studies that predominantly have a focus on identifying prevalence rates, diagnoses, and symptoms. So, the findings may not effectively capture the full mental health continuum, such as those who are flourishing, with or without diagnosed mental health conditions and problematic substance use. These reviews also do not substantially contribute to our understanding of the factors that promote and support positive wellbeing. In addition, the focus for the review was limited to higher prevalence mental health challenges and substance use problems, such as depression, anxiety, suicide, and substance use disorders. Even so, most of the findings were focused on depression and anxiety, which likely reflects the larger research focus in relation to contextual factors. This means the findings do not include research looking at contextual factors influencing mental health conditions such as bipolar disorder, psychosis, anorexia, bulimia, or factors influencing neurodevelopmental conditions, gambling harm and other types of addiction experienced by children and young people. Consideration needs to be given in the design of the prevalence study as to whether it can help to identify associations between contextual factors and specific diagnostic groups, or whether this can be addressed through longitudinal studies, or specifically funded research.

This review mainly captures research about adolescents and young adults, rather than infants and children aged under 10 years. This may reflect the research availability and different types of contextual measures and outcome measures in the infant and child

literature, which may not have aligned with our key search terms. It will be important to identify the priority contextual factors for children in Aotearoa.

Next steps

We recognise it is not feasible to include all contextual factors in the first child and youth mental health and addiction prevalence study. Hence, there needs to be a clear rationale for prioritising those included. It is also crucial that sufficient resourcing enables the time and expertise needed to analyse the data gathered. Key aspects that need to be considered when prioritising and determining which contextual factors to include in the prevalence study include stakeholder priorities (including lived experience and cultural perspectives), health inequities, existing information about the factor's influence and spread, and current research gaps.

To help make decisions on which factors to include in the prevalence study, and to address key research gaps, the following next steps are recommended.

- Collaboration is crucial for designing a prevalence study. Further consultation with children and young people about the drivers (positive and negative, from their perspectives) of mental health and addiction is recommended. This needs to include a particular focus on the views and experiences of priority groups who are frequently misrepresented or misunderstood. The establishment of a child and youth advisory group is important to inform the design and implementation of the prevalence study, working in partnership with a diversity of lived experience, whānau, Māori, Pacific, Asian, disabled and rainbow communities, and clinical and academic experts.
- Explore opportunities to examine contextual factors through existing national studies or surveys and identify opportunities where existing studies or surveys could be utilised to help fill research gaps. Also explore the potential for existing data sources to be linked with the child and youth prevalence study.
- Review child and youth mental health and addiction epidemiological studies currently being conducted overseas and the contextual factors that have been, or are planned to be, measured. Examine processes used to select these contextual factors, as well as the constructs and measures used to collect data about contextual factors.
- Ahead of the child and youth prevalence study, consider undertaking a feasibility study to test the measures for contextual factors to examine the relevance and utility for Aotearoa.

Conclusion

An in-depth understanding of contextual factors is vital for planning and resourcing preventative, holistic, multi-sectoral, and targeted strategies to improve child and youth

mental health, substance use and to reduce inequities (Fleming et al., 2024; Office of the Auditor-General, 2024).

It is imperative that the upcoming child and youth mental health and addiction prevalence study includes contextual factors (Menzies et al., 2020; Office of the Auditor-General, 2024). This narrative review collates available data and research about 10 key contextual factors that are important for the prevalence study to consider. We also recommend next steps to help further our understanding of contextual factors and guide the planning and development of the child and youth mental health and addiction prevalence study.

Most importantly, children and young people need to be heard and have their perspectives valued and acted upon (Fleming et al., 2020). Their voices are vital for understanding the unique experiences and challenges of growing up in an increasingly complex world and for designing services and systems that can support them through such challenges (Fleming et al., 2020; Stubbing & Gibson, 2019, 2021). Child and youth leadership is vital in the ongoing design and implementation of the prevalence study (Azzopardi et al., 2024).

Appendix: Preliminary scan

A preliminary scan of high-level review studies was undertaken to examine the range of contextual factors influencing mental health and substance use among children and youth. This involved scanning local research and review studies of international research (such as umbrella reviews, systematic reviews, meta-analyses, and narrative reviews).

Search terms included:

- Review, umbrella, systematic, meta-analysis, effect size
- risk factors, determinants, contextual factors
- children and youth, young people
- Aotearoa New Zealand.

To help appraise and prioritise the contextual factors for inclusion in the next stage of the review, we set the following criteria to examine whether factors are:

- 1) identified as important by young people (based on local research of the Aotearoa context)
- 2) frequently reported in reviews as having an important influence on mental health and addiction (based on the number of mentions in reviews)
- 3) reported to have a relatively strong influence on mental health and addiction (based on statistical effect sizes in reviews and meta-analyses that compared across multiple factors).

Table 3 shows the range of factors identified in the preliminary scan and their alignment with the three criteria. Factors that met all three criteria are: adverse childhood experiences, bullying, discrimination, socioeconomic factors, whānau environment, peer relationships, school engagement, and substance use. Digital environment and cultural identity were also selected for this review as these factors have been identified as important by youth in Aotearoa.

Based on our approach, there were many factors that did not meet the criteria for this review due to not being frequently reported by young people or in the review studies or not being found to have large effect sizes. However, it is important to note that the excluded factors can have huge importance in the context of people's lives and population wellbeing. This includes factors such as perinatal factors, institutional care, involvement with justice services, commercial determinants, climate change, and recreation. These are potentially areas that have been less researched or new and emerging areas with a smaller body of evidence.

Table 3. Contextual factors for child and youth mental health and substance use

Contextual factors	Frequently reported by research	Relatively stronger impact ¹⁶	Contextual factors reported by young people
1) Abuse and neglect	✓	✓	√
2) Bullying victimisation	✓	✓	✓
3) Cultural identity*			✓
4) Experiences of discrimination	√	√	✓
5) Whānau environment	√	√	✓
6) Peer relationships and social connectedness	✓	√	√
7) School or study factors	✓	√	✓
8) Social media and technology*	√		✓
9) Socioeconomic factors	√	√	✓
10) Substance use	√	√	✓
Parental mental health and addiction	✓	√	
Diet, exercise, and sleep	✓	√	
Physical health	✓		√
Recreation, play, and creativity			✓
Local neighbourhood	√		
Self-esteem			✓
Body image			√
Climate change			✓

Note. *Cultural identity and the use of social media and technology did not meet all three criteria but were selected for the review due to their significance in the Aotearoa context. The table is likely to reflect international research interests as the evaluation methods are limited by research availability and the scopes of the included review papers. Most frequently reported factors were identified in over half of the high-level review papers focused on child and youth mental health and addiction, strength of associations is based on relative effect sizes in papers that compare across several factors, key concerns reported by young people are based on a mix of quantitative and qualitative data.

56

¹⁶ In studies that compare across multiple factors.

Key factors reported by young people

Young people believe the biggest problems for youth in Aotearoa today are emotional and mental health issues, social media and technology, uncertain or bleak futures (such as lack of job opportunities and affordable housing, economic instability, and climate change), racism and discrimination (including the impacts of colonisation), and risky choices (such as sex and substance use) (Fleming et al., 2020; Menzies et al., 2020; Te Hiringa Mahara, 2022). In contrast, whānau wellbeing, intergenerational and cultural connections, and community support, and recreational activities and groups are important factors for young people (Fleming et al., 2020; Te Hiringa Mahara, 2022).

Frequently reported factors

Across the lifespan, the most frequently reported influencing factors for mental health and addiction include, but are not limited to, adverse life experiences, socioeconomic factors, experiences of discrimination, whānau and social relationships, and the neighbourhood and physical environment (Alegría et al., 2018; Compton & Shim, 2015; Dragioti et al., 2022; Gnanapragasam et al., 2023; Huggard et al., 2023; Jester et al., 2023; Kirkbride et al., 2024; Lund, 2023; Silva et al., 2016).

Other factors often recognised in the literature include cultural identity and connectedness, institutional care in childhood, interactions with the justice and social services, incarceration, war and conflict, and access to healthcare (Alegría et al., 2018; Compton & Shim, 2015; Dragioti et al., 2022; Gnanapragasam et al., 2023; Huggard et al., 2023; Jester et al., 2023; Kirkbride et al., 2024; Lund, 2023; Silva et al., 2016).

In the child and youth literature, there is additional focus on parental mental health, perinatal factors, parenting factors, bullying, school or study factors, self-esteem, and digital environment (such as screen time) (Basu & Banerjee, 2020; Stubbing, Rihari, et al., 2023).

Strongly influential factors

Across the lifespan literature, mental health challenges and problematic substance use are strongly associated with adverse life experiences (including childhood abuse, bullying, and intimate partner violence) (Alon et al., 2024; C. Arango et al., 2021; Dragioti et al., 2022; GBD 2019 Mental Disorders Collaborators, 2022; Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation, 2024; Te Pou, 2023). Relatively strong associations have also been reported for gender, financial and material hardship, substance use, parental mental health and substance use, low social support, bereavement or grief, experiences of discrimination, physical health problems, and job stress (Alon et al., 2024; C. Arango et al., 2021; Dragioti et al., 2022).

References

- Abuse in Care Royal Commission of Inquiry. (2024). Whanaketia Through pain and trauma, from darkness to light. Abuse in Care Royal Commission of Inquiry. https://www.abuseincare.org.nz/reports/whanaketia/
- Acevedo-Garcia, D., Rosenfeld, L. E., Hardy, E., McArdle, N., & Osypuk, T. L. (2013). Future Directions in Research on Institutional and Interpersonal Discrimination and Children's Health. *American Journal of Public Health*, *103*(10), 1754–1763. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJH.2012.300986
- Alegría, M., NeMoyer, A., Falgas, I., Wang, Y., & Alvarez, K. (2018). Social Determinants of Mental Health: Where We Are and Where We Need to Go. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 20(11), 95. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-018-0969-9
- Alon, N., Macrynikola, N., Jester, D. J., Keshavan, M., Reynolds, C. F., Saxena, S., Thomas, M. L., Torous, J., & Jeste, D. V. (2024). Social determinants of mental health in major depressive disorder: Umbrella review of 26 meta-analyses and systematic reviews. *Psychiatry Research*, 335, 115854. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2024.115854
- Ameratunga, S., Jackson, N., Peiris-John, R., Sheridan, J., Moselen, E., & Clark, T. (2019). New Zealand adolescents' concerns about their alcohol use and access to services: Associations with ethnicity and other factors. *Journal of Ethnicity in Substance Abuse*, *18*(4), 634–653. https://doi.org/10.1080/15332640.2018.1428710
- Andermo, S., Hallgren, M., Nguyen, T.-T.-D., Jonsson, S., Petersen, S., Friberg, M., Romqvist, A., Stubbs, B., & Elinder, L. S. (2020). School-related physical activity interventions and mental health among children: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sports Medicine Open*, *6*(1), 25. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40798-020-00254-x
- Anderson, K., Elder-Robinson, E., Gall, A., Ngampromwongse, K., Connolly, M., Letendre, A., Willing, E., Akuhata-Huntington, Z., Howard, K., Dickson, M., & Garvey, G. (2022). Aspects of Wellbeing for Indigenous Youth in CANZUS Countries: A Systematic Review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(20), Article 20. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph192013688
- Arango, A., Brent, D., Grupp-Phelan, J., Barney, B. J., Spirito, A., Mroczkowski, M. M., Shenoi, R., Mahabee-Gittens, M., Casper, T. C., King, C., & Network (PECARN), in collaboration with the P. E. C. A. R. (2024). Social connectedness and adolescent suicide risk. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *65*(6), 785–797. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.13908
- Arango, C., Dragioti, E., Solmi, M., Cortese, S., Domschke, K., Murray, R. M., Jones, P. B., Uher, R., Carvalho, A. F., Reichenberg, A., Shin, J. I., Andreassen, O. A., Correll, C. U., & Fusar-Poli, P. (2021). Risk and protective factors for mental disorders beyond genetics: An evidence-based atlas. *World Psychiatry*, *20*(3), 417. https://doi.org/10.1002/wps.20894
- Atatoa Carr, P., Langridge, F., Neumann, D., Paine, S.-J., Liang, R., Taufa, S., Fa'alili Fidow, J., Fenaughty, J., & Kingi, T. K. (2022). 'Seeing' our tamariki in longitudinal studies: Exploring the complexity of ethnic identification trajectories within Growing Up in New Zealand. *Journal of the Royal Society of New Zealand*, *52*(3), 237–253. https://doi.org/10.1080/03036758.2022.2064518
- Azzopardi, P., Clark, T. C., Renfrew, L., Habito, M., & Ameratunga, S. (2024). Advancing Impactful Research for Adolescent Health and Wellbeing: Key Principles and Required Technical Investments. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, *75*(4), S47–S61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2024.04.001
- Baker, E. E. (2019). Motherhood, homeschooling, and mental health. *Sociology Compass*, 13(9), e12725. https://doi.org/10.1111/soc4.12725
- Ball, J., Crossin, R., Boden, J., Crengle, S., & Edwards, R. (2022). Long-term trends in adolescent alcohol, tobacco and cannabis use and emerging substance use issues

- in Aotearoa New Zealand. *Journal of the Royal Society of New Zealand*, *52*(4), 450–471. https://doi.org/10.1080/03036758.2022.2060266
- Ball, J., Zhang, J., Kim, A., Crengle, S., Farrant, B., Birks-Ang, B., & Jackson, N. (2022). Risk and protective factors for alcohol use among secondary school students. Factsheet. Alcohol Healthwatch, University of Otago & Adolescent Health Research Group. https://www.youth19.ac.nz/publications/alcohol-risk-and-protection?rq=family
- Barwick, K. (2024). 'It is hard being a person who is different'. Rangatahi lived experiences of racism and ableism in different spaces in Aotearoa. [Thesis, Open Access Te Herenga Waka-Victoria University of Wellington]. https://doi.org/10.26686/wgtn.25999915
- Basu, S., & Banerjee, B. (2020). Impact of environmental factors on mental health of children and adolescents: A systematic review. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 119, 105515. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2020.105515
- Beckert, L., & Jones, S. (2018). E-cigarettes—Peering into the mist of uncertainty. *New Zealand Medical Journal*, 131(1470).
- Benton, C. (2021). Rangatahi of Ngāi Te Rangi lwi: Cultural Belonging and Connectedness [University of Waikato]. https://researchcommons.waikato.ac.nz/server/api/core/bitstreams/c33932cf-8427-4207-984d-8096b2774005/content
- Bhatia, A. (2023). Experiences and Understandings of Stress and the Role of Social Support in Enhancing Wellbeing Among Youth of Indian Descent in New Zealand [Auckland University of Technology]. http://hdl.handle.net/10292/17787
- Birchall, M., Drummond, A., & Williams, M. N. (2024). Antecedents of bullying victimisation in adolescents: A fresh look at Aotearoa New Zealand. *Kōtuitui: New Zealand Journal of Social Sciences Online*, *0*(0), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1080/1177083X.2024.2385427
- Boden, J. M., Fergusson, D. M., & Horwood, L. J. (2006). Illicit drug use and dependence in a New Zealand birth cohort. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, *40*(2), 156–163. https://doi.org/10.1080/j.1440-1614.2006.01763.x
- Boden, J. M., Stockum, S. van, Horwood, L. J., & Fergusson, D. M. (2016). Bullying victimization in adolescence and psychotic symptomatology in adulthood: Evidence from a 35-year study. *Psychological Medicine*, *46*(6), 1311–1320. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291715002962
- Boer, M., van den Eijnden, R. J. J. M., Boniel-Nissim, M., Wong, S.-L., Inchley, J. C., Badura, P., Craig, W. M., Gobina, I., Kleszczewska, D., Klanšček, H. J., & Stevens, G. W. J. M. (2020). Adolescents' Intense and Problematic Social Media Use and Their Well-Being in 29 Countries. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, *66*(6, Supplement), S89–S99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2020.02.014
- Bourque, F., Ven, E. van der, & Malla, A. (2011). A meta-analysis of the risk for psychotic disorders among first- and second-generation immigrants. *Psychological Medicine*, *41*(5), 897–910. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291710001406
- Buchanan, M., Newton-Howes, G., Cunningham, R., McLeod, G. F. H., & Boden, J. M. (2024). The role of social support in reducing the long-term burden of cumulative childhood adversity on adulthood internalising disorder. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-024-02674-6
- Bullying Free New Zealand. (n.d.). *About bullying*. Retrieved 1 October 2024, from https://bullyingfree.nz/about-bullying/
- Bunting, L., McCartan, C., Davidson, G., Grant, A., McBride, O., Mulholland, C., Murphy, J., Schubotz, D., Cameron, J., & Shevlin, M. (2020). *The Mental Health of Children and Parents in Northern Ireland: Results of the Youth Wellbeing Prevalence Survey.*Health and Social Care Board.
- Busby, D. R., Horwitz, A. G., Zheng, K., Eisenberg, D., Harper, G. W., Albucher, R. C., Roberts, L. W., Coryell, W., Pistorello, J., & King, C. A. (2020). Suicide risk among gender and sexual minority college students: The roles of victimization,

- discrimination, connectedness, and identity affirmation. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 121, 182–188. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2019.11.013
- Byrne, R., Terranova, C. O., & Trost, S. G. (2021). Measurement of screen time among young children aged 0-6 years: A systematic review. *Obesity Reviews: An Official Journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity*, 22(8), e13260. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.13260
- Cairns, K. E., Yap, M. B. H., Pilkington, P. D., & Jorm, A. F. (2014). Risk and protective factors for depression that adolescents can modify: A systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *169*, 61–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2014.08.006
- Chandler, M. J., & Lalonde, C. (1998). Cultural Continuity as a Hedge against Suicide in Canada's First Nations. *Transcultural Psychiatry*, *35*(2), 191–219. https://doi.org/10.1177/136346159803500202
- Chen, H., Cohen, P., & Chen, S. (2010). How Big is a Big Odds Ratio? Interpreting the Magnitudes of Odds Ratios in Epidemiological Studies. *Communications in Statistics—Simulation and Computation®*. https://doi.org/10.1080/03610911003650383
- Choy, B., Arunachalam, K., S, G., Taylor, M., & Lee, A. (2021). Systematic review:

 Acculturation strategies and their impact on the mental health of migrant populations.

 Public Health in Practice, 2, 100069. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhip.2020.100069
- Clark, T. C., Ball, J., Fenaughty, J., Drayton, B., Fleming, T. (Terry), Rivera-Rodriguez, C., Le Grice, J., Peiris-John, R., Bavin, L.-M., Schwencke, A., Sutcliffe, K., Lewycka, S., Lucassen, M., Waa, A., Greaves, L. M., & Crengle, S. (2022). Indigenous adolescent health in Aotearoa New Zealand: Trends, policy and advancing equity for rangatahi Maori, 2001–2019. *The Lancet Regional Health Western Pacific*, 28, 100554. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lanwpc.2022.100554
- Clark, T. C., Gontijo de Castro, T., Bullen, P., Fenaughty, J., Tiatia-Seath, J., Bavin, L., Peiris-John, R., Sutcliffe, K., Crengle, S., Lindsay-Latimer, C., Yao, E., & Fleming, T. (2023). Youth19 Rangatahi Smart Survey, The health and wellbeing of young people in Alternative Education. The Youth19 Research Group, The University of Auckland and Victoria University of Wellington.
- Clark, T. C., Gontijo de Castro, T., Pillay-Hansen, K., Shaw, G., Fenaughty, J., Tiatia-Seath, J., Bavin, L., Peiris-John, R., Sutcliffe, K., King-Finau, T., Crengle, S., Le Grice, J., Groot, S., & Fleming, T. (2022). *Youth19 Rangatahi Smart Survey, The Health and Wellbeing of Youth who are Not in Education, Employment or Training (Y-NEETs).* The Youth19 Research Group, The University of Auckland and Victoria University of Wellington.
- Clark, T. C., Kuresa, B., Drayton, B., King-Finau, T., & Fleming, T. (2021). *A Youth19 Brief:* Young People with Disabilities. The Youth19 Research Group, The University of Auckland and Victoria University of Wellington.
- Clark, T. C., Lucassen, M. F. G., Bullen, P., Denny, S. J., Fleming, T. M., Robinson, E. M., & Rossen, F. V. (2014). The health and well-being of transgender high school students: Results from the New Zealand adolescent health survey (Youth'12). *The Journal of Adolescent Health: Official Publication of the Society for Adolescent Medicine*, *55*(1), 93–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2013.11.008
- Clark, T. C., Robinson, E., Crengle, S., Fleming, T., Ameratunga, S., Denny, S. J., Bearinger, L. H., Sieving, R. E., & Saewyc, E. (2011). Risk and Protective Factors for Suicide Attempt Among Indigenous Māori Youth in New Zealand: The Role of Family Connection. *International Journal of Indigenous Health*, 7(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.18357/ijih71201112350
- Coggan, C., Bennett, S., Hooper, R., & Dickinson, P. (2003). Association between Bullying and Mental Health Status in New Zealand Adolescents. *International Journal of Mental Health Promotion*, *5*(1), 16–22. https://doi.org/10.1080/14623730.2003.9721892

- Cohen, J. R., & Choi, J. W. (2022). Is ACEs Screening for Adolescent Mental Health Accurate and Fair? *Prevention Science*, 23(7), 1216–1229. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11121-022-01391-3
- Cole, V. T., Richmond-Rakerd, L. S., Bierce, L. F., Norotsky, R. L., Peiris, S. T., & Hussong, A. M. (2024). Peer connectedness and substance use in adolescence: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors*, *38*(1), 19–35. https://doi.org/10.1037/adb0000914
- Collins, S., Dash, S., Allender, S., Jacka, F., & Hoare, E. (2022). Diet and Mental Health During Emerging Adulthood: A Systematic Review. *Emerging Adulthood*, *10*(3), 645–659. https://doi.org/10.1177/2167696820943028
- Compton, M. T., & Shim, R. S. (2015). The Social Determinants of Mental Health. *FOCUS*. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.focus.20150017
- Corkin, M. T., Peterson, E. R., Henderson, A. M. E., Waldie, K. E., Reese, E., & Morton, S. M. B. (2021). Preschool screen media exposure, executive functions and symptoms of inattention/hyperactivity. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 73, 101237. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appdev.2020.101237
- Crengle, S., Robinson, E., Ameratunga, S., Clark, T., & Raphael, D. (2012). Ethnic discrimination prevalence and associations with health outcomes: Data from a nationally representative cross-sectional survey of secondary school students in New Zealand. *BMC Public Health*, *12*(1), 45. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-12-45
- Cullen, J., Muntz, A., Marsh, S., Simmonds, L., Mayes, J., O'Neill, K., & Duncan, S. (2024a). Impact of digital screen use on health and wellbeing of children and adolescents: A narrative review. *New Zealand Journal of Physiotherapy*, *52*(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.15619/nzjp.v52i1.364
- Cullen, J., Muntz, A., Marsh, S., Simmonds, L., Mayes, J., O'Neill, K., & Duncan, S. (2024b). Impacts of digital technologies on child and adolescent health: Recommendations for safer screen use in educational settings. *The New Zealand Medical Journal*, 137(1598), 9–13. https://doi.org/10.26635/6965.6565
- Curtis, E., Jones, R., Willing, E., Anderson, A., Paine, S.-J., Herbert, S., Loring, B., Dalgic, G., & Reid, P. (2023). Indigenous adaptation of a model for understanding the determinants of ethnic health inequities. *Discover Social Science and Health*, *3*(1), 10. https://doi.org/10.1007/s44155-023-00040-6
- Danese, A., Moffitt, T. E., Harrington, H., Milne, B. J., Polanczyk, G., Pariante, C. M., Poulton, R., & Caspi, A. (2009). Adverse childhood experiences and adult risk factors for age-related disease: Depression, inflammation, and clustering of metabolic risk markers. *Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine*, *163*(12), 1135–1143. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpediatrics.2009.214
- De Risio, L., Pettorruso, M., Collevecchio, R., Collacchi, B., Boffa, M., Santorelli, M., Clerici, M., Martinotti, G., Zoratto, F., & Borgi, M. (2024). Staying connected: An umbrella review of meta-analyses on the push-and-pull of social connection in depression. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *345*, 358–368. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2023.10.112
- Deacon, S. H., Rodriguez, L. M., Elgendi, M., King, F. E., Nogueira-Arjona, R., Sherry, S. B., & Stewart, S. H. (2021). Parenting through a pandemic: Mental health and substance use consequences of mandated homeschooling. *Couple and Family Psychology: Research and Practice*, *10*(4), 281–293. https://doi.org/10.1037/cfp0000171
- Denny, S., Lewycka, S., Utter, J., Fleming, T., Peiris-John, R., Sheridan, J., Rossen, F., Wynd, D., Teevale, T., Bullen, P., & Clark, T. (2016). The association between socioeconomic deprivation and secondary school students' health: Findings from a latent class analysis of a national adolescent health survey. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, *15*(1), 109. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-016-0398-5
- Dizon, L., Sharma, V., Clark, T. C., Ball, J., Fleming, T., Isherwood, K., & Lockett, H. (2024). Addressing data needs crucial for improving infant, child and youth mental health and substance-related harms in Aotearoa New Zealand: Key design and ethical

- considerations for future research. *The New Zealand Medical Journal*, 137(1606), 92–100. https://doi.org/10.26635/6965.6702
- Doery, E., Satyen, L., Paradies, Y., & Toumbourou, J. W. (2023). The Relationship Between Cultural Engagement and Psychological Well-being Among Indigenous Adolescents: A Systematic Review. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, *54*(1), 90–113. https://doi.org/10.1177/00220221221128215
- Dong, M., Anda, R. F., Felitti, V. J., Dube, S. R., Williamson, D. F., Thompson, T. J., Loo, C. M., & Giles, W. H. (2004). The interrelatedness of multiple forms of childhood abuse, neglect, and household dysfunction. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *28*(7), 771–784. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2004.01.008
- DQ Institute. (2023). 2023 Child Online Safety Index. https://www.dqinstitute.org/impact-measure/
- Dragioti, E., Radua, J., Solmi, M., Arango, C., Oliver, D., Cortese, S., Jones, P. B., Shin, J. I., Correll, C. U., & Fusar-Poli, P. (2022). Global population attributable fraction of potentially modifiable risk factors for mental disorders: A meta-umbrella systematic review. *Molecular Psychiatry*, *27*(8). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-022-01586-8
- D'Souza, S., Underwood, L., Peterson, E. R., Buckley, J., Morton, S. M. B., & Waldie, K. E. (2019). Determinants of persistence and change in early childhood behavioural problems: The roles of parenting and maternal mental health. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, *28*(7), 1826–1842. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-019-01404-w
- Duan, C., Liu, L., Wang, T., Wang, G., Jiang, Z., Li, H., Zhang, G., Ye, L., Li, C., & Cao, Y. (2024). Evidence linking COVID-19 and the health/well-being of children and adolescents: An umbrella review. *BMC Medicine*, 22(1), 116. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-024-03334-x
- Dube, S. R., Felitti, V. J., Dong, M., Chapman, D. P., Giles, W. H., & Anda, R. F. (2003). Childhood Abuse, Neglect, and Household Dysfunction and the Risk of Illicit Drug Use: The Adverse Childhood Experiences Study. *Pediatrics*, *111*(3), 564–572. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.111.3.564
- Dubois-Comtois, K., Bussières, E.-L., Cyr, C., St-Onge, J., Baudry, C., Milot, T., & Labbé, A.-P. (2021). Are children and adolescents in foster care at greater risk of mental health problems than their counterparts? A *meta*-analysis. *Children and Youth Services Review*, *127*, 106100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2021.106100
- Duffy, B., Lawson, G., May, G., Pollitt, A., Brown, V., Cram, M., & McGorry, P. (2024). *Youth mental health in crisis? Public and generational attitudes in the UK and Australia*. Policy Institute at King's College London and Orygen. https://kclpure.kcl.ac.uk/portal/en/publications/youth-mental-health-in-crisis-publicand-generational-attitudes-i
- Duncanson, M., Roy, M., van Asten, H., Oben, G., Wicken, A., Tustin, K., McAnally, H., & Adams, J. (2022). *Child Poverty Monitor 2022 Technical Report*. Child Poverty Monitor 2022 Technical Report. Dunedin.
- Durie, M. (1985). A Maori perspective of health. *Social Science & Medicine*, *20*(5), 483–486. https://doi.org/10.1016/0277-9536(85)90363-6
- Durie, M. (2001). Mauri Ora: The Dynamics of Māori Health. Oxford University Press.
- Education Counts. (2024a). *School leaver's attainment*. Education Counts. https://www.educationcounts.govt.nz/statistics/school-leavers
- Education Counts. (2024b). *Stand-Downs, Suspensions, Exclusions and Expulsions*. https://www.educationcounts.govt.nz/__data/assets/pdf_file/0010/208396/SSEE-2022-Indicator-Report.pdf
- Education Counts. (2025). *Homeschooling*. https://www.educationcounts.govt.nz/statistics/homeschooling
- Emmer, C., Dorn, J., & Mata, J. (2024). The immediate effect of discrimination on mental health: A meta-analytic review of the causal evidence. *Psychological Bulletin*, *150*(3), 215–252. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000419

- Esmaeelzadeh, S., Moraros, J., Thorpe, L., & Bird, Y. (2018). Examining the Association and Directionality between Mental Health Disorders and Substance Use among Adolescents and Young Adults in the U.S. and Canada—A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, 7(12), Article 12. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm7120543
- Evans, R. J., Bird, A., Bullen, P., Fenaughty, J., Renker-Darby, A., Crosby, K., Grant, M., Miller, S., & Paine, S.-J. (2023). *Now We Are 12: Young People's Relationships at Twelve Years of Age. Snapshot 9.* Growing Up in New Zealand.
- Eyou, M. L., Adair, V., & Dixon, R. (2000). Cultural identity and psychological adjustment of adolescent Chinese immigrants in New Zealand. *Journal of Adolescence*, *23*(5), 531–543. https://doi.org/10.1006/jado.2000.0341
- Fang, Z., Cerna-Turoff, I., Zhang, C., Lu, M., Lachman, J. M., & Barlow, J. (2022). Global estimates of violence against children with disabilities: An updated systematic review and meta-analysis. *The Lancet Child & Adolescent Health*, *6*(5), 313–323. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2352-4642(22)00033-5
- Fanslow, J., Hashemi, L., Gulliver, P., & McIntosh, T. (2021). Adverse childhood experiences in New Zealand and subsequent victimization in adulthood: Findings from a population-based study. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *117*, 105067. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2021.105067
- Felitti, V. J., Anda, R. F., Nordenberg, D., Williamson, D. F., Spitz, A. M., Edwards, V., Koss, M. P., & Marks, J. S. (1998). Relationship of childhood abuse and household dysfunction to many of the leading causes of death in adults. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *14*(4), 245–258. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0749-3797(98)00017-8
- Fenaughty, J., Sutcliffe, K., Fleming, T., Ker, A., Lucassen, M., Greaves, L., & Clark, T. (2021). *A Youth19 Brief: Transgender and diverse gender students*. Youth19 Research Group, The University of Auckland and Victoria University of Wellington.
- Fenaughty, J., Tan, K., Ker, A., Veale, J., Saxton, P., & Alansari, M. (2023). Sexual Orientation and Gender Identity Change Efforts for Young People in New Zealand: Demographics, Types of Suggesters, and Associations with Mental Health. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, *52*(1), 149–164. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-022-01693-3
- Fergusson, D. M., Boden, J. M., & Horwood, L. J. (2006). Cannabis use and other illicit drug use: Testing the cannabis gateway hypothesis. *Addiction (Abingdon, England)*, 101(4), 556–569. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2005.01322.x
- Fergusson, D. M., Boden, J. M., & Horwood, L. J. (2009). Tests of causal links between alcohol abuse or dependence and major depression. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 66(3), 260–266. https://doi.org/10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2008.543
- Fergusson, D. M., Boden, J. M., & Horwood, L. J. (2011). Structural models of the comorbidity of internalizing disorders and substance use disorders in a longitudinal birth cohort. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, *46*(10), 933–942. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-010-0268-1
- Fergusson, D. M., Boden, J. M., & Horwood, L. J. (2013). Alcohol misuse and psychosocial outcomes in young adulthood: Results from a longitudinal birth cohort studied to age 30. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 133(2), 513–519. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2013.07.015
- Fergusson, D. M., & Horwood, J. L. (2001). The Christchurch Health and Development Study: Review of Findings on Child and Adolescent Mental Health. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, *35*(3), 287–296. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1440-1614.2001.00902.x
- Fergusson, D. M., & Horwood, L. J. (1998). Exposure to Interparental Violence in Childhood and Psychosocial Adjustment in Young Adulthood. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 22(5), 339–357. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0145-2134(98)00004-0

- Fergusson, D. M., Horwood, L. J., & Beautrais, A. L. (1999). Is Sexual Orientation Related to Mental Health Problems and Suicidality in Young People? *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *56*(10), 876–880. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.56.10.876
- Fergusson, D. M., Horwood, L. J., & Lynskey, M. (1994). The childhoods of multiple problem adolescents: A 15-year longitudinal study. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, and Allied Disciplines*, *35*(6). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.1994.tb01813.x
- Fergusson, D. M., Horwood, L. J., & Lynskey, M. T. (1996). Childhood Sexual Abuse and Psychiatric Disorder in Young Adulthood: II. Psychiatric Outcomes of Childhood Sexual Abuse. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 35(10), 1365–1374. https://doi.org/10.1097/00004583-199610000-00024
- Fergusson, D. M., Horwood, L. J., & Ridder, E. M. (2005). Tests of causal linkages between cannabis use and psychotic symptoms. *Addiction (Abingdon, England)*, 100(3), 354–366. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2005.01001.x
- Fergusson, D. M., Horwood, L. J., Ridder, E. M., & Beautrais, A. L. (2005). Sexual orientation and mental health in a birth cohort of young adults. *Psychological Medicine*, *35*(7), 971–981. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291704004222
- Fergusson, D. M., & Lynskey, M. T. (1997). Physical punishment/maltreatment during childhood and adjustment in young adulthood. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *21*(7), 617–630. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0145-2134(97)00021-5
- Fergusson, D. M., McLeod, G., & Horwood, L. (2013). Childhood sexual abuse and adult developmental outcomes: Findings from a 30-year longitudinal study in New Zealand. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *37*(9). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2013.03.013
- Fergusson, D. M., Swain-Campbell, N. R., & Horwood, L. J. (2002). Deviant Peer Affiliations, Crime and Substance Use: A Fixed Effects Regression Analysis. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, *30*(4), 419–430. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1015774125952
- Fergusson, D. M., Wanner, B., Vitaro, F., Horwood, L. J., & Swain-Campbell, N. (2003). Deviant Peer Affiliations and Depression: Confounding or Causation? *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, *31*(6), 605–618. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1026258106540
- Fisher, B. W., Gardella, J. H., & Teurbe-Tolon, A. R. (2016). Peer Cybervictimization Among Adolescents and the Associated Internalizing and Externalizing Problems: A Meta-Analysis. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, *45*(9), 1727–1743. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-016-0541-z
- Flaskerud, J. H., & Lesser, J. (2018). The Current Socio-Political Climate and Psychological Distress Among Transgender People. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing*, *39*(1), 93–96. https://doi.org/10.1080/01612840.2017.1368751
- Fleming, T., Archer, D., King-Finau, T., Dewhirst, M., & Clark, T. (2021). *Youth19: Safety & Violence Brief.* Youth19 and The Adolescent Health Research Group.
- Fleming, T., Archer, D., Sutcliffe, K., Dewhirst, M., & Clark, T. C. (2022). Young people who have been involved with Oranga Tamariki: Mental and physical health and healthcare access. The Youth19 Research Group, The University of Auckland and Victoria University of Wellington.
- Fleming, T., Ball, J., Kang, K., Sutcliffe, K., Lambert, M., Peiris-John, R., & Clark, T. (2020). Youth19: Youth Voice Brief. The Youth19 Research Group. https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5bdbb75ccef37259122e59aa/t/5f3394a265488 5030c051243/1597215912482/Youth19+Youth+Voice+Brief.pdf
- Fleming, T., Crengle, S., Peiris-John, R., Ball, J., Fortune, S., Yao, E. S., Lindsay Latimer, C., Veukiso-Ulugia, A., & Clark, T. C. (2024). Priority actions for improving population youth mental health: An equity framework for Aotearoa New Zealand. *Mental Health & Prevention*, *34*, 200340. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mhp.2024.200340
- Fleming, T., Lee, A. C., Moselen, E., Clark, T. C., Dixon, R., & The Adolescent Health Research Group. (2014). *Problem substance use among New Zealand secondary*

- school students: Findings from the Youth'12 national youth health and wellbeing survey. The University of Auckland.
- Fletcher, B. D., Walker, C., Cha, J. E., Neumann, D., Paine, S. J., Park, A., Fenaughty, J., Bird, A. L., & Waldie, K. E. (2023). *Now We Are 12: Young people's experiences of depression and anxiety symptoms. Snapshot 7.* Growing Up in New Zealand.
- Forber-Pratt, A. J., Lyew, D. A., Mueller, C., & Samples, L. B. (2017). Disability identity development: A systematic review of the literature. *Rehabilitation Psychology*, *62*(2), 198–207. https://doi.org/10.1037/rep0000134
- Fox, R., Neha, T., & Jose, P. E. (2018). Tū Māori Mai: Māori Cultural Embeddeness Improves Adaptive Coping and Wellbeing for Māori Adolescents. *New Zealand Journal of Psychology*, *47*(2), 13–23.
- Fredriksen-Goldsen, K. I., Kim, H.-J., Bryan, A. E. B., Shiu, C., & Emlet, C. A. (2017). The Cascading Effects of Marginalization and Pathways of Resilience in Attaining Good Health Among LGBT Older Adults. *The Gerontologist*, *57*(suppl_1), S72–S83. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnw170
- Gao, Y.-X., Wang, J.-Y., & Dong, G.-H. (2022). The prevalence and possible risk factors of internet gaming disorder among adolescents and young adults: Systematic reviews and meta-analyses. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, *154*, 35–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2022.06.049
- Gariépy, G., Danna, S. M., Hawke, L., Henderson, J., & Iyer, S. N. (2022). The mental health of young people who are not in education, employment, or training: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, *57*(6), 1107–1121. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-021-02212-8
- Garisch, J., Wilson, M., Robinson, K., Brocklesby, M., O'Connell, A., Langlands, R., Russell, L., Kingi, T., & Brown, E. (2016). Adolescent wellbeing in Aotearoa New Zealand: The importance of school environment. *Journal of the New Zealand College of Clinical Psychologists*, 26, 35–40.
- Gath, M. E. (2022). Parents and Adolescents in Stepfamilies: Longitudinal Links to Physical Health, Psychological Distress, and Stress. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 31(1), 17–28. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-021-02078-z
- Gawn, J., Fletcher, B. D., Neumann, D., Pillai, A., Miller, S., Park, A., Napier, C., & Paine, S. J. (2024). The impact of extreme weather events on young people and their families: Evidence from Growing Up in New Zealand. Growing Up in New Zealand.
- GBD 2019 Mental Disorders Collaborators. (2022). Global, regional, and national burden of 12 mental disorders in 204 countries and territories, 1990–2019: A systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, *9*(2), 137–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(21)00395-3
- Gerritsen, S., Park, A., Walker, C., Napier, C., Exeter, D., & Paine, S.-J. (2024). *Now We Are 12: Food Insecurity. Snapshot 3.* Growing Up in New Zealand. https://doi.org/10.17608/k6.auckland.26009626.v1
- Gibb, S. J., Horwood, L. J., & Fergusson, D. M. (2011). Bullying victimization/perpetration in childhood and later adjustment: Findings from a 30 year longitudinal study. *Journal of Aggression, Conflict and Peace Research*, *3*(2), 82–88. https://doi.org/10.1108/17596591111132891
- Gibson, K., Abraham, Q., Asher, I., Black, R., Turner, N., Waitoki, W., & McMillan, N. (2017). Child poverty and mental health: A literature review (Commissioned for New Zealand Psychological Society and Child Poverty Action Group). https://researchcommons.waikato.ac.nz/handle/10289/11484
- Gibson, M., Stuart, J., Leske, S., Ward, R., & Tanton, R. (2021). Suicide rates for young Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people: The influence of community level cultural connectedness. *Medical Journal of Australia*, 214(11), 514–518. https://doi.org/10.5694/mja2.51084

- Gnanapragasam, S. N., Wright, L. A., Pemberton, M., & Bhugra, D. (2023). Outside/inside: Social determinants of mental health. *Irish Journal of Psychological Medicine*, *40*(1), 63–73. https://doi.org/10.1017/ipm.2021.49
- Goodman, S. H., Rouse, M. H., Connell, A. M., Broth, M. R., Hall, C. M., & Heyward, D. (2011). Maternal Depression and Child Psychopathology: A Meta-Analytic Review. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, *14*(1), 1–27. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10567-010-0080-1
- Gossage, L., Narayanan, A., Dipnall, J. F., Iusitini, L., Sumich, A., Berk, M., Wrapson, W., Tautolo, E.-S., & Siegert, R. (2022). Risk factors for depression in Pacific adolescents in New Zealand: A network analysis. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *311*, 373–382. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2022.05.076
- Grant, M., Prickett, K. C., Morton, S. M. B., Miller, S., Pillai, A., & Paine, S.-J. (2023). *Now We Are 12: Material Hardship. Snapshot 2*. Growing Up in New Zealand.
- Grimes, A., & White, D. (2019). *Digital inclusion and wellbeing in New Zealand* (p. 64). Motu Economic and Public Policy Research.
- Guerrero-Muñoz, D., Salazar, D., Constain, V., Perez, A., Pineda-Cañar, C. A., & García-Perdomo, H. A. (2021). Association between Family Functionality and Depression: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Korean Journal of Family Medicine*, *4*2(2), 172–180. https://doi.org/10.4082/kjfm.19.0166
- Guterman, O., & Neuman, A. (2017). Schools and emotional and behavioral problems: A comparison of school-going and homeschooled children. *The Journal of Educational Research*, 110(4), 425–432. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220671.2015.1116055
- Guzek, D., Głąbska, D., Groele, B., & Gutkowska, K. (2020). Role of fruit and vegetables for the mental health of children: A systematic review. *Roczniki Panstwowego Zakladu Higieny*, 71(1), 5–13. https://doi.org/10.32394/rpzh.2019.0096
- Han, D., Dieujuste, N., Doom, J. R., & Narayan, A. J. (2023). A systematic review of positive childhood experiences and adult outcomes: Promotive and protective processes for resilience in the context of childhood adversity. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 144, 106346. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2023.106346
- Harris, R., Li, C., Stanley, J., King, P. T., Priest, N., Curtis, E., Ameratunga, S., Sorensen, D., Tibble, F., Tewhaiti-Smith, J., Thatcher, P., Araroa, R., Pihema, S., Lee-Kirk, S., King, S. J. R., Urlich, T., Livingstone, N.-Z., Kamau Brady, S., Matehe, C., & Paine, S.-J. (2024). Racism and Health Among Aotearoa New Zealand Young People Aged 15-24 years: Analysis of Multiple National Surveys. *The Journal of Adolescent Health: Official Publication of the Society for Adolescent Medicine*, 75(3), 416–425. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2024.04.021
- Hartwell, M., Hendrix-Dicken, A., Terry, R., Schiffmacher, S., Conway, L., & Croff, J. M. (2023). Trends and forecasted rates of adverse childhood experiences among adults in the United States: An analysis of the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System. *Journal of Osteopathic Medicine*, 123(7), 357–363. https://doi.org/10.1515/jom-2022-0221
- Hashemi, L., Fanslow, J. L., Gulliver, P., & McIntosh, T. (2021). Exploring the health burden of cumulative and specific adverse childhood experiences in New Zealand: Results from a population-based study. *Child Abuse & Neglect, 2021, 122: 105372*.
- Hodgson, C. R., DeCoteau, R. N., Allison-Burbank, J. D., & Godfrey, T. M. (2022). An Updated Systematic Review of Risk and Protective Factors Related to the Resilience and Well-Being of Indigenous Youth in the United States and Canada. *American Indian and Alaska Native Mental Health Research (Online)*, 29(3), 136–195. https://doi.org/10.5820/aian.2903.2022.136
- Hogg, B., Gardoki-Souto, I., Valiente-Gómez, A., Rosa, A. R., Fortea, L., Radua, J., Amann, B. L., & Moreno-Alcázar, A. (2023). Psychological trauma as a transdiagnostic risk factor for mental disorder: An umbrella meta-analysis. *European Archives of Psychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience*, 273(2), 397–410. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00406-022-01495-5

- Honda, T., Tran, T., Popplestone, S., Draper, C. E., Yousafzai, A. K., Romero, L., & Fisher, J. (2023). Parents' mental health and the social-emotional development of their children aged between 24 and 59 months in low-and middle-income countries: A systematic review and meta-analyses. *SSM Mental Health*, *3*, 100197. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmmh.2023.100197
- Horwood, L. J., Fergusson, D. M., Coffey, C., Patton, G. C., Tait, R., Smart, D., Letcher, P., Silins, E., & Hutchinson, D. M. (2012). Cannabis and depression: An integrative data analysis of four Australasian cohorts. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, *126*(3), 369–378. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2012.06.002
- Huang, C. (2022). A meta-analysis of the problematic social media use and mental health. International Journal of Social Psychiatry, 68(1), 12–33. https://doi.org/10.1177/0020764020978434
- Huggard, L., Murphy, R., O'Connor, C., & Nearchou, F. (2023). The Social Determinants of Mental Illness: A Rapid Review of Systematic Reviews. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing*, *44*(4). https://doi.org/10.1080/01612840.2023.2186124
- Hughes, K., Bellis, M. A., Hardcastle, K. A., Sethi, D., Butchart, A., Mikton, C., Jones, L., & Dunne, M. P. (2017). The effect of multiple adverse childhood experiences on health: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *The Lancet. Public Health*, *2*(8), e356–e366. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-2667(17)30118-4
- Infometrics. (2024). *Population age composition*. https://rep.infometrics.co.nz/new-zealand/population/age-composition
- Ingham, T. R., Jones, B., Perry, M., King, P. T., Baker, G., Hickey, H., Pouwhare, R., & Nikora, L. W. (2022). The Multidimensional Impacts of Inequities for Tāngata Whaikaha Māori (Indigenous Māori with Lived Experience of Disability) in Aotearoa, New Zealand. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(20), Article 20. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph192013558
- Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation. (2024). *Mental disorders—Level 2 cause*. https://www.healthdata.org/research-analysis/diseases-injuries-risks/factsheets/2021-mental-disorders-level-2-disease
- Javed, S., Usmani, S., Sarfraz, Z., Sarfraz, A., Hanif, A., Firoz, A., Baig, R., Sharath, M., Walia, N., Chérrez-Ojeda, I., & Ahmed, S. (2022). A Scoping Review of Vaping, E-Cigarettes and Mental Health Impact: Depression and Suicidality. *Journal of Community Hospital Internal Medicine Perspectives*, 12(3), 33–39. https://doi.org/10.55729/2000-9666.1053
- Jester, D. J., Thomas, M. L., Sturm, E. T., Harvey, P. D., Keshavan, M., Davis, B. J., Saxena, S., Tampi, R., Leutwyler, H., Compton, M. T., Palmer, B. W., & Jeste, D. V. (2023). Review of Major Social Determinants of Health in Schizophrenia-Spectrum Psychotic Disorders: I. Clinical Outcomes. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, *49*(4), 837. https://doi.org/10.1093/schbul/sbad023
- Jose, P. E. (2015). How are Positive and Negative Peer Relations Related to Positive and Negative Affect in Adolescents Over Time in New Zealand? In M. Demir (Ed.), *Friendship and Happiness: Across the Life-Span and Cultures* (pp. 275–289). Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-017-9603-3_16
- Jose, P. E., Ryan, N., & Pryor, J. (2012). Does Social Connectedness Promote a Greater Sense of Well-Being in Adolescence Over Time? *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 22(2), 235–251. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-7795.2012.00783.x
- Kapeli, S. A., Manuela, S., & Sibley, C. G. (2020). Understanding Pasifika mental health in New Zealand: A review of the literature. *MAI Journal: A New Zealand Journal of Indigenous Scholarship*, *9*(3). https://doi.org/10.20507/MAIJournal.2020.9.3.7
- Karatekin, C., Mason, S. M., Riegelman, A., Bakker, C., Hunt, S., Gresham, B., Corcoran, F., & Barnes, A. (2022). Adverse childhood experiences: A scoping review of measures and methods. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 136, 106425. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2022.106425

- Kearney, A. (2016). The right to education: What is happening for disabled students in New Zealand? *Disability Studies Quarterly*, 36. https://doi.org/10.18061/dsq.v36i1.4278
- Kedzior, K. K., & Laeber, L. T. (2014). A positive association between anxiety disorders and cannabis use or cannabis use disorders in the general population- a meta-analysis of 31 studies. *BMC Psychiatry*, *14*(1), 136. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-244X-14-136
- Khalid, S., Williams, C. M., & Reynolds, S. A. (2016). Is there an association between diet and depression in children and adolescents? A systematic review. *The British Journal of Nutrition*, 116(12), 2097–2108. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114516004359
- Khan, A. M., Ahmed, S., Sarfraz, Z., & Farahmand, P. (2023). Vaping and Mental Health Conditions in Children: An Umbrella Review. *Substance Abuse: Research and Treatment*, 17, 11782218231167322. https://doi.org/10.1177/11782218231167322
- Kim, G. (2022). "Asians just seem to be invisible": Digital Mental Health and Wellbeing: A Qualitative Study Exploring the Perspectives of Young Asian New Zealanders and Health Professionals [Thesis, ResearchSpace@Auckland]. https://researchspace.auckland.ac.nz/handle/2292/62219
- King, V., Boyd, L. M., & Pragg, B. (2018). Parent-Adolescent Closeness, Family Belonging, and Adolescent Well-Being Across Family Structures. *Journal of Family Issues*, 39(7), 2007–2036. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192513X17739048
- Kirkbride, J. B., Anglin, D. M., Colman, I., Dykxhoorn, J., Jones, P., Patalay, P., Pitman, A., Soneson, E., Steare, T., Wright, T., & Griffiths, S. L. (2024). The social determinants of mental health and disorder: Evidence, prevention and recommendations. *World Psychiatry: Official Journal of the World Psychiatric Association (WPA)*, 23(1). https://doi.org/10.1002/wps.21160
- Kljakovic, M., Hunt, C., & Jose, P. E. (2015). Incidence of Bullying and Victimisation among Adolescents in New Zealand. *New Zealand Journal of Psychology*, *44*(2), 57–67.
- Koh, H., Farrant, B., Fenaughty, J., Ameratunga, S., Peris-John, R., & Bavin, L. (2024). Asian Rainbow Youth in New Zealand: Protective Factors. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, *75*(3), 426–434. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2024.05.026
- Kokaua, J., Schaaf, D., Wells, J. E., & Foliaki, S. A. (2009). Twelve-month prevalence, severity, and treatment contact of mental disorders in New Zealand born and migrant Pacific participants in Te Rau Hinengaro: The New Zealand Mental Health Survey. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *15*(1), 9–17.
- Krieger, N. (2001). A glossary for social epidemiology. 55(10), 693–700.
- Krieger, N. (2024). Theorizing epidemiology, the stories bodies tell, and embodied truths: A status update on contending 21st c CE epidemiological theories of disease distribution. *International Journal of Social Determinants of Health and Health Services*, *54*(4), 331–342. https://doi.org/10.1177/27551938241269188
- Lai, H., Prickett, K. C., Renker-Darby, A., Paine, S.-J., & Atatoa Carr, P. (2023). *Now We Are 12: Housing and Homelessness. Snapshot 4.* Growing Up in New Zealand.
- Leadley, S. J. (2023). Tamaiti/Child Poverty: The Ways in Which Poverty Shapes
 Tamariki/Children's Patterns of Participation in Occupations, Their Potential and
 Wellbeing [Auckland University of Technology]. http://hdl.handle.net/10292/17730
- Lechner, W. V., Janssen, T., Kahler, C. W., Audrain-McGovern, J., & Leventhal, A. M. (2017). Bi-directional associations of electronic and combustible cigarette use onset patterns with depressive symptoms in adolescents. *Preventive Medicine*, *96*, 73–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2016.12.034
- Lev-Ran, S., Roerecke, M., Le Foll, B., George, T. P., McKenzie, K., & Rehm, J. (2014). The association between cannabis use and depression: A systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. *Psychological Medicine*, *44*(4), 797–810. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291713001438
- Li, C., Wang, P., Martin-Moratinos, M., Bella-Fernández, M., & Blasco-Fontecilla, H. (2022). Traditional bullying and cyberbullying in the digital age and its associated mental

- health problems in children and adolescents: A meta-analysis. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-022-02128-x
- Lindert, J., von Ehrenstein, O. S., Grashow, R., Gal, G., Braehler, E., & Weisskopf, M. G. (2014). Sexual and physical abuse in childhood is associated with depression and anxiety over the life course: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *International Journal of Public Health*, *59*(2), 359–372. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00038-013-0519-5
- Lippard, E. T., & Nemeroff, C. B. (2019). The Devastating Clinical Consequences of Child Abuse and Neglect: Increased Disease Vulnerability and Poor Treatment Response in Mood Disorders. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, *177*(1), 20. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2019.19010020
- Livingston, J. A., Chen, C.-H., Kwon, M., & Park, E. (2022). Physical and mental health outcomes associated with adolescent E-cigarette use. *Journal of Pediatric Nursing*, 64, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedn.2022.01.006
- Lloyd-Johnsen, C., Eades, S., McNamara, B., D'Aprano, A., & Goldfeld, S. (2021). A global perspective of Indigenous child health research: A systematic review of longitudinal studies. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, *50*(5), 1554–1568. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyab074
- Logeswaran, S., Hollett, M., Zala, S., Richardson, L., & Scior, K. (2019). How do people with intellectual disabilities construct their social identity? A review. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities*, *32*(3), 533–542. https://doi.org/10.1111/jar.12566
- Lucassen, M. F., Clark, T. C., Denny, S. J., Fleming, T. M., Rossen, F. V., Sheridan, J., Bullen, P., & Robinson, E. M. (2015). What has changed from 2001 to 2012 for sexual minority youth in New Zealand? *Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health*, 51(4), 410–418. https://doi.org/10.1111/jpc.12727
- Lucassen, M. F., Stasiak, K., Samra, R., Frampton, C. M., & Merry, S. N. (2017). Sexual minority youth and depressive symptoms or depressive disorder: A systematic review and meta-analysis of population-based studies. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, *51*(8), 774–787. https://doi.org/10.1177/0004867417713664
- Lund, C. (2023). Global mental health and its social determinants: How should we intervene? *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *169*, 104402. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2023.104402
- Lynskey, M. T., & Fergusson, D. M. (1997). Factors protecting against the development of adjustment difficulties in young adults exposed to childhood sexual abuse. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *21*(12), 1177–1190. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0145-2134(97)00093-8
- Madigan, S., Deneault, A.-A., Racine, N., Park, J., Thiemann, R., Zhu, J., Dimitropoulos, G., Williamson, T., Fearon, P., Cénat, J. M., McDonald, S., Devereux, C., & Neville, R. D. (2023). Adverse childhood experiences: A meta-analysis of prevalence and moderators among half a million adults in 206 studies. World Psychiatry, 22(3), 463–471. https://doi.org/10.1002/wps.21122
- Maessen, S. E., Taylor, B. J., Gillon, G., Moewaka Barnes, H., Firestone, R., Taylor, R. W., Milne, B., Hetrick, S., Cargo, T., McNeill, B., & Cutfield, W. (2023). A better start national science challenge: Supporting the future wellbeing of our tamariki E tipu, e rea, mō ngā rā o tō ao: grow tender shoot for the days destined for you. *Journal of the Royal Society of New Zealand*, *53*(5), 673–696. https://doi.org/10.1080/03036758.2023.2173257
- Mandelli, L., Petrelli, C., & Serretti, A. (2015). The role of specific early trauma in adult depression: A meta-analysis of published literature. Childhood trauma and adult depression. *European Psychiatry: The Journal of the Association of European Psychiatrists*, 30(6), 665–680. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpsy.2015.04.007
- Manning, C., & Gregoire, A. (2006). Effects of parental mental illness on children. *Psychiatry*, *5*(1), 10–12. https://doi.org/10.1383/psyt.2006.5.1.10

- Manuela, S. (2021). Ethnic Identity Buffers the Effect of Discrimination on Family, Life, and Health Satisfaction for Pacific Peoples in New Zealand. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 21(7), Article 7. https://doi.org/10.26635/phd.2021.113
- Manuela, S., & Anae, M. (2017). Pacific youth, acculturation and identity: The relationship between ethnic identity and wellbeing: new directions for research. *Pacific Dynamics*, 1(1), 129–147.
- Marks, E. J., Tait, J., Miller, S., Liang, R., Bullen, P., Fenaughty, J., Grant, C. C., & Paine, S.-J. (2023). *Now We Are 12: The Impact of Disability on Young People and Their Family. Snapshot 8.* Growing Up in New Zealand.
- Marraccini, M. E., & Brier, Z. M. F. (2017). School connectedness and suicidal thoughts and behaviors: A systematic meta-analysis. *School Psychology Quarterly*, *32*(1), 5–21. https://doi.org/10.1037/spq0000192
- Massullo, C., De Rossi, E., Carbone, G. A., Imperatori, C., Ardito, R. B., Adenzato, M., & Farina, B. (2023). Child Maltreatment, Abuse, and Neglect: An Umbrella Review of Their Prevalence and Definitions. *Clinical Neuropsychiatry*, *20*(2), 72–99. https://doi.org/10.36131/cnfioritieditore20230201
- Matika, C. M., Houkamau, C. A., & Sibley, C. G. (2020). The Revised Multidimensional Model of Māori Identity and Cultural Engagement (MMM-ICE3). *New Zealand Journal of Psychology*, *49*(2), 59–71.
- Matika, C. M., Manuela, S., Houkamau, C. A., & Sibley, C. G. (2021). Māori and Pasifika language, identity, and wellbeing in Aotearoa New Zealand. *Kōtuitui: New Zealand Journal of Social Sciences Online*, *16*(2), 396–418. https://doi.org/10.1080/1177083X.2021.1900298
- Maung, K., Meyers, A., & Woodley, A. (2024). Save the Children New Zealand: Child protection situational analysis. Point & Associates.
- McAnally, H. M., Wiki Te Oi, A., Nada-Raja, S., & Hancox, R. J. (2024). The Longitudinal Association of Childhood and Adolescent Television Viewing with Substance Use Disorders and Disordered Gambling in Adulthood up to Age 45. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*, 22(3), 1116–1127. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11469-022-00918-7
- McAnally, H. M., Young, T., & Hancox, R. J. (2019). Childhood and adolescent television viewing and internalising disorders in adulthood. *Preventive Medicine Reports*, *15*, 100890. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmedr.2019.100890
- McDonough, M., Jose, P., & Stuart, J. (2016). Bi-directional Effects of Peer Relationships and Adolescent Substance Use: A Longitudinal Study. *Journal of Youth & Adolescence*, *45*(8), 1652–1663. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-015-0355-4
- McEvoy, D., Brannigan, R., Cooke, L., Butler, E., Walsh, C., Arensman, E., & Clarke, M. (2023). Risk and protective factors for self-harm in adolescents and young adults: An umbrella review of systematic reviews. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, *168*, 353–380. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2023.10.017
- McGee, R., Williams, S., Poulton, R., & Moffitt, T. (2000). A longitudinal study of cannabis use and mental health from adolescence to early adulthood. *Addiction*, *95*(4), 491–503. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1360-0443.2000.9544912.x
- McGorry, P. D., Mei, C., Dalal, N., Alvarez-Jimenez, M., Blakemore, S.-J., Browne, V., Dooley, B., Hickie, I. B., Jones, P. B., McDaid, D., Mihalopoulos, C., Wood, S. J., Azzouzi, F. A. E., Fazio, J., Gow, E., Hanjabam, S., Hayes, A., Morris, A., Pang, E., ... Killackey, E. (2024). The Lancet Psychiatry Commission on youth mental health. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, *11*(9), 731–774. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(24)00163-9
- McLeod, B. D., Weisz, J. R., & Wood, J. J. (2007). Examining the association between parenting and childhood depression: A meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 27(8), 986–1003. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2007.03.001

- McLeod, B. D., Wood, J. J., & Weisz, J. R. (2007). Examining the association between parenting and childhood anxiety: A meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 27(2), 155–172. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2006.09.002
- McNeil, J., Ellis, S. J., & Eccles, F. J. R. (2017). Suicide in trans populations: A systematic review of prevalence and correlates. *Psychology of Sexual Orientation and Gender Diversity*, *4*(3), 341–353. https://doi.org/10.1037/sgd0000235
- McPherson, K. E., Kerr, S., McGee, E., Morgan, A., Cheater, F. M., McLean, J., & Egan, J. (2014). The association between social capital and mental health and behavioural problems in children and adolescents: An integrative systematic review. *BMC Psychology*, 2(1), 7. https://doi.org/10.1186/2050-7283-2-7
- Menzies, R., Gluckman, S. P., & Poulton, R. (2020). *Youth Mental Health In Aotearoa New Zealand: Greater Urgency Required.* Koi Tū: The Centre for Informed Futures. https://informedfutures.org/wp-content/uploads/Youth-Mental-Health-in-Aotearoa-NZ.pdf
- Metherell, T. E., Ghai, S., McCormick, E. M., Ford, T. J., & Orben, A. (2022). Digital access constraints predict worse mental health among adolescents during COVID-19. *Scientific Reports*, 12, 19088. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-23899-y
- Mhuru, M. & Ministry of Education. (2021). He Whakaaro: What do we know about bullying behaviours in New Zealand? Ministry of Education.
- Mindlis, I., & Boffetta, P. (2017). Mood disorders in first- and second-generation immigrants: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, *210*(3), 182–189. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.116.181107
- Ministry of Health. (2024a). *Annual Data Explorer 2023/24: New Zealand Health Survey [Data File]*. https://minhealthnz.shinyapps.io/nz-health-survey-2023-24-annual-data-explorer/_w_88921eed/#!/home
- Ministry of Health. (2024b). *New funding for child and youth mental health survey*. https://www.health.govt.nz/news/new-funding-for-child-and-youth-mental-health-survey
- Ministry of Justice. (2024). NZCVS Data Tables 2023 (Cycle 6): Sexual violence and family offences. Ministry of Justice. https://www.justice.govt.nz/justice-sector-policy/research-data/nzcvs/nzcvs-cycle-6-resources-and-results/
- Ministry of Social Development. (2022). Whataboutme.nz: The national youth health and wellbeing survey 2021. Overview report—October 2022. Ministry of Social Development. https://www.msd.govt.nz/documents/about-msd-and-our-work/publications-resources/consultations/youth-health-and-wellbeing-survey-results/the-national-youth-health-and-wellbeing-survey-2021-overview-report-september-2022.pdf
- Ministry of Social Development & AUT Center for Social Data Analytics. (2019). Adverse childhood experiences and school readiness outcomes: Results from the Growing up in New Zealand study. https://www.msd.govt.nz/documents/about-msd-and-our-work/publications-resources/research/children-and-families-research-fund/children-and-families-research-fund-report-adverse-childhood-experiences-and-school-readiness-outcomes-april-2019-final.pdf
- Ministry of Youth Development. (2011). Young, Disabled, and Speaking Out. Results from a survey of disabled young people for the New Zealand report on the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities. Ministry of Youth Development.
- Miranda-Mendizabal, A., Castellví, P., Parés-Badell, O., Alayo, I., Almenara, J., Alonso, I., Blasco, M., Cebrià, A., Gabilondo, A., Gili, M., Lagares, C., Piqueras, J., Rodríguez-Jiménez, T., Rodríguez-Marín, J., Roca, M., Soto-Sanz, V., Vilagut, G., & Alonso, J. (2019). Gender differences in suicidal behavior in adolescents and young adults: Systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. *International Journal of Public Health*, *64*(2). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00038-018-1196-1
- Mitic, M., Woodcock, K. A., Amering, M., Krammer, I., Stiehl, K. A. M., Zehetmayer, S., & Schrank, B. (2021). Toward an Integrated Model of Supportive Peer Relationships in

- Early Adolescence: A Systematic Review and Exploratory Meta-Analysis. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.589403
- Modecki, K. L., Minchin, J., Harbaugh, A. G., Guerra, N. G., & Runions, K. C. (2014). Bullying Prevalence Across Contexts: A Meta-analysis Measuring Cyber and Traditional Bullying. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, *55*(5), 602–611. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2014.06.007
- Monk, J., Prickett, K., Grimes, A., & Morrison, P. S. (2024). The effect of income on New Zealand children's behaviour: The influence of maternal stress and children's screen use. Motu Economic and Public Policy Research.

 https://www.motu.nz/assets/Documents/our-research/Income-and-child-behaviour-Working-Paper-FINAL.pdf
- Moore, S. E., Norman, R. E., Suetani, S., Thomas, H. J., Sly, P. D., & Scott, J. G. (2017). Consequences of bullying victimization in childhood and adolescence: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *World Journal of Psychiatry*, 7(1), 60–76. https://doi.org/10.5498/wjp.v7.i1.60
- Morales, M. F., Girard, L.-C., Raouna, A., & MacBeth, A. (2023). The association of different presentations of maternal depression with children's socio-emotional development: A systematic review. *PLOS Global Public Health*, *3*(2), e0001649. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgph.0001649
- Moreira, A. L., Yunes, M. Â. M., Nascimento, C. R. R., & Bedin, L. M. (2021). Children's Subjective Well-Being, Peer Relationships and Resilience: An Integrative Literature Review. *Child Indicators Research*, *14*(5), 1723–1742. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12187-021-09843-y
- Murrup-Stewart, C., Whyman, T., Jobson, L., & Adams, K. (2021). "Connection to Culture Is Like a Massive Lifeline": Yarning With Aboriginal Young People About Culture and Social and Emotional Wellbeing. *Qualitative Health Research*, *31*(10), 1833–1846. https://doi.org/10.1177/10497323211009475
- Ndjatou, T., Qiu, Y., Gerber, L. M., & Chang, J. (2024). How do Differences in Adolescent and Caregiver Reports of Adolescent Adverse Childhood Experiences Relate to Adolescent Depression? *The Journal of Pediatrics: Clinical Practice*, *13*, 200113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpedcp.2024.200113
- Netsafe. (2018). New Zealand teens and digital harm: Statistical insights into experiences, impact and response. Netsafe. https://www.women.govt.nz/sites/default/files/2021-08/NZ-teens-and-digital-harm_statistical-insights_2018%20%281%29.pdf
- Neumann, D., Yao, E., Fenaughty, J., Liang, R., Kingi, T. K., Taufa, S., Atatoa Carr, P., & Paine, S.-J. (2023). *Now We Are Twelve: Ethnic and Gender Identity at 12 Years Old.* Growing Up in New Zealand.
- New Zealand Family Violence Clearinghouse. (n.d.). Frequently Asked Questions.
- New Zealand Police. (2024). *Annual report 2023/24*. New Zealand Police. https://www.police.govt.nz/about-us/publication/annual-report-2024
- Newton-Howes, G., & Boden, J. M. (2016). Relation between age of first drinking and mental health and alcohol and drug disorders in adulthood: Evidence from a 35-year cohort study. *Addiction*, 111(4), 637–644. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.13230
- OECD. (2019). PISA 2018 Results (Volume III). OECD.
- OECD. (2021). 21st-Century Readers: Developing Literacy Skills in a Digital World. PISA, OECD. https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/docserver/a83d84cb-en.pdf?expires=1727833619&id=id&accname=guest&checksum=35452E3AFE8480 2E908B35FB33664675
- OECD. (2022). Youth not in employment, education or training (NEET). https://www.oecd.org/en/data/indicators/youth-not-in-employment-education-or-training-neet.html?oecdcontrol-dec63071aa-var6=15_19&oecdcontrol-00b22b2429-var3=2022

- OECD. (2023). Education at a Glance 2023. OECD. https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/education/education-at-a-glance-2023_e13bef63-en;jsessionid=CqZO04J5v4olWknOX7MWW82ti-BACnTFO5vUMHle.ip-10-240-5-91
- OECD. (2024). Student engagement and motivation. https://gpseducation.oecd.org/revieweducationpolicies/#!node=44131&filter=All
- Office of the Auditor-General. (2024). *Meeting the mental health needs of young New Zealanders*. https://oag.parliament.nz/2024/youth-mental-health
- Olsen, B. (2022). *Better understanding New Zealand's rainbow population*. https://www.infometrics.co.nz/article/2022-03-new-zealands-rainbow-population
- Olusanya, B. O., Kancherla, V., Shaheen, A., Ogbo, F. A., & Davis, A. C. (2022). Global and regional prevalence of disabilities among children and adolescents: Analysis of findings from global health databases. *Frontiers in Public Health*, *10*, 977453. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2022.977453
- Paine, S.-J., Neumann, D., & Yao, E. (2023). Now we are 12: Structural disadvantage and rangatahi Māori mental wellbeing. Growing Up in New Zealand. https://assets-global.website-files.com/63a70013e473f3b2807218ee/655d8ca99017c47bea73a503_NWA12_Structural%20disadvantage%20and%20Rangatahi%20Ma%CC%84ori%20mental%20wellbeing%20FINAL.pdf
- Paradies, Y., Ben, J., Denson, N., Elias, A., Priest, N., Pieterse, A., Gupta, A., Kelaher, M., & Gee, G. (2015). Racism as a Determinant of Health: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *PLoS ONE*, *10*(9), e0138511. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0138511
- Paterson, J., Iusitini, L., & Taylor, S. (2014). Pacific Islands Families Study: Depressive symptoms in 9-year-old Pacific children living in New Zealand. *The New Zealand Medical Journal*, 127(1390), 13–22.
- Paterson, J., Tautolo, E.-S., Iusitini, L., & Sisk, R. (2018). Cultural, individual, and familial risk and protective factors associated with depressive symptoms in Pacific youth living in New Zealand. *Social Work in Mental Health*. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/15332985.2018.1497566
- Pearce, E., Birken, M., Pais, S., Tamworth, M., Ng, Y., Wang, J., Chipp, B., Crane, E., Schlief, M., Yang, J., Stamos, A., Cheng, L. K., Condon, M., Lloyd-Evans, B., Kirkbride, J. B., Osborn, D., Pitman, A., & Johnson, S. (2023). Associations between constructs related to social relationships and mental health conditions and symptoms: An umbrella review. *BMC Psychiatry*, *23*(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-023-05069-0
- Pellicane, M. J., & Ciesla, J. A. (2022). Associations between minority stress, depression, and suicidal ideation and attempts in transgender and gender diverse (TGD) individuals: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *91*, 102113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2021.102113
- Pinquart, M., & Shen, Y. (2011). Depressive Symptoms in Children and Adolescents with Chronic Physical Illness: An Updated Meta-Analysis. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, *36*(4), 375–384. https://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/jsq104
- Plum, A., & Zhuge, L. (2024). New Zealand Crime and Victims Research: The burden of crime victimisation among the LGBTQ+ population in Aotearoa. New Zealand Policy Research Institute.
- Potterton, R., Austin, A., Robinson, L., Webb, H., Allen, K. L., & Schmidt, U. (2022). Identity Development and Social-Emotional Disorders During Adolescence and Emerging Adulthood: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, *51*(1), 16–29. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-021-01536-7
- Poulton, R., Robertson, K., Boden, J., Horwood, J., Theodore, R., Potiki, T., & Ambler, A. (2020). Patterns of recreational cannabis use in Aotearoa-New Zealand and their consequences: Evidence to inform voters in the 2020 referendum. *Journal of the Royal Society of New Zealand*, *50*(2), 348–365. https://doi.org/10.1080/03036758.2020.1750435

- Price, M. A., Hollinsaid, N. L., McKetta, S., Mellen, E. J., & Rakhilin, M. (2023). Structural transphobia is associated with psychological distress and suicidality in a large national sample of transgender adults. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-023-02482-4
- Puna, E. T., & Tiatia-Seath, J. (2017). Defining positive mental wellbeing for New Zealand-born Cook Islands youth. *Journal of Indigenous Wellbeing*, 2(1), 97–107.
- Radford, A., Toombs, E., Zugic, K., Boles, K., Lund, J., & Mushquash, C. J. (2022). Examining Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) within Indigenous Populations: A Systematic Review. *Journal of Child & Adolescent Trauma*, *15*(2), 401–421. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40653-021-00393-7
- Raja, S. N., McGee, R., & Stanton, W. R. (1992). Perceived attachments to parents and peers and psychological well-being in adolescence. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, *21*(4), 471–485. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01537898
- Ramaswami, S. B., Jensen, T., Berghaus, M., De-Oliveira, S., Russ, S. A., Weiss-Laxer, N., Verbiest, S., & Barkin, S. (2022). Family Health Development in Life Course Research: A Scoping Review of Family Functioning Measures. *Pediatrics*, 149(Supplement 5), e2021053509J. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2021-053509J
- Raskauskas, J. (2009). Text-Bullying: Associations With Traditional Bullying and Depression Among New Zealand Adolescents. *Journal of School Violence*, *9*(1), 74–97. https://doi.org/10.1080/15388220903185605
- Reiss, F. (2013). Socioeconomic inequalities and mental health problems in children and adolescents: A systematic review. *Social Science & Medicine (1982)*, *90*, 24–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2013.04.026
- Reuben, A., Moffitt, T. E., Caspi, A., Belsky, D. W., Harrington, H., Schroeder, F., Hogan, S., Ramrakha, S., Poulton, R., & Danese, A. (2016). Lest we forget: Comparing retrospective and prospective assessments of adverse childhood experiences in the prediction of adult health. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, and Allied Disciplines*, *57*(10), 1103–1112. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12621
- Richardson, R., Connell, T., Foster, M., Blamires, J., Keshoor, S., Moir, C., & Zeng, I. S. (2024). Risk and Protective Factors of Self-harm and Suicidality in Adolescents: An Umbrella Review with Meta-Analysis. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, *53*(6), 1301–1322. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-024-01969-w
- Robertson, L. A., McAnally, H. M., & Hancox, R. J. (2013). Childhood and adolescent television viewing and antisocial behavior in early adulthood. *Pediatrics*, *131*(3), 439–446. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2012-1582
- Rodriguez-Ayllon, M., Cadenas-Sánchez, C., Estévez-López, F., Muñoz, N. E., Mora-Gonzalez, J., Migueles, J. H., Molina-García, P., Henriksson, H., Mena-Molina, A., Martínez-Vizcaíno, V., Catena, A., Löf, M., Erickson, K. I., Lubans, D. R., Ortega, F. B., & Esteban-Cornejo, I. (2019). Role of Physical Activity and Sedentary Behavior in the Mental Health of Preschoolers, Children and Adolescents: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Sports Medicine*, *49*(9), 1383–1410. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-019-01099-5
- Rogers, A., Obst, S., Teague, S. J., Rossen, L., Spry, E. A., Macdonald, J. A., Sunderland, M., Olsson, C. A., Youssef, G., & Hutchinson, D. (2020). Association Between Maternal Perinatal Depression and Anxiety and Child and Adolescent Development: A Meta-analysis. *JAMA Pediatrics*, 174(11), 1082–1092. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapediatrics.2020.2910
- Rose, I. D., Lesesne, C. A., Sun, J., Johns, M. M., Zhang, X., & Hertz, M. (2024). The Relationship of School Connectedness to Adolescents' Engagement in Co-Occurring Health Risks: A Meta-Analytic Review. *The Journal of School Nursing: The Official Publication of the National Association of School Nurses*, *40*(1), 58–73. https://doi.org/10.1177/10598405221096802
- Roy, R., Greaves, L., Fenaughty, J., Fleming, T., & Clark, T. C. (2023). Mental health and wellbeing for young people from intersectional identity groups: Inequity for Māori,

- Pacific, rainbow young people, and those with a disabling condition. *New Zealand Journal of Psychology*, *52*(1), 25–40. https://doi.org/10.25455/wgtn.24079458
- Roy, R., Greaves, L. M., Peiris-John, R., Clark, T., Fenaughty, J., Sutcliffe, K., Barnett, D., Hawthorne, V., Tiatia-Seath, J., & Fleming, T. (2021). *Negotiating multiple identities: Intersecting identities among Māori, Pacific, Rainbow and Disabled young people.*The Youth19 Research Group, The University of Auckland and Victoria University of Wellington.
- Russell, S. T., & Fish, J. N. (2016). Mental Health in Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender (LGBT) Youth. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, *12*(Volume 12, 2016), 465–487. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-021815-093153
- Sahle, B. W., Reavley, N. J., Li, W., Morgan, A. J., Yap, M. B. H., Reupert, A., & Jorm, A. F. (2022). The association between adverse childhood experiences and common mental disorders and suicidality: An umbrella review of systematic reviews and meta-analyses. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 31(10), 1489–1499. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-021-01745-2
- Schepis, T. S., McCabe, S. E., & Ford, J. A. (2020). Substance Use and Mental Health in Homeschooled Adolescents in the United States. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 67(5), 718–721. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2020.04.016
- Schmitt, M. T., Branscombe, N. R., Postmes, T., & Garcia, A. (2014). The consequences of perceived discrimination for psychological well-being: A meta-analytic review. *Psychological Bulletin*, *140*(4), 921–948. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0035754
- Scully, C., McLaughlin, J., & Fitzgerald, A. (2020). The relationship between adverse childhood experiences, family functioning, and mental health problems among children and adolescents: A systematic review. *Journal of Family Therapy*, *42*(2), 291–316. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-6427.12263
- Secinti, E., Thompson, E. J., Richards, M., & Gaysina, D. (2017). Research Review: Childhood chronic physical illness and adult emotional health a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, and Allied Disciplines*, *58*(7), 753–769. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12727
- Shannon, H., Bush, K., Villeneuve, P. J., Hellemans, K. G., & Guimond, S. (2022). Problematic Social Media Use in Adolescents and Young Adults: Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *JMIR Mental Health*, *9*(4), e33450. https://doi.org/10.2196/33450
- Sharmin, S., Kypri, K., Khanam, M., Wadolowski, M., Bruno, R., Attia, J., Holliday, E., Palazzi, K., & Mattick, R. P. (2017). Effects of parental alcohol rules on risky drinking and related problems in adolescence: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, *178*, 243–256. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2017.05.011
- Sharmin, S., Kypri, K., Khanam, M., Wadolowski, M., Bruno, R., & Mattick, R. P. (2017).

 Parental Supply of Alcohol in Childhood and Risky Drinking in Adolescence:

 Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 14(3), Article 3. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph14030287
- Silva, M., Loureiro, A., & Cardoso, G. (2016). Social determinants of mental health: A review of the evidence. *The European Journal of Psychiatry*, *30*(4), 259–292.
- Simon-Kumar, N. (2023). Intersecting Lives: An exploration of mental health and wellbeing among ethnic youth in Aotearoa New Zealand [Master of Health Sciences, The University of Auckland]. https://researchspace.auckland.ac.nz/bitstream/handle/2292/67000/Simon-Kumar-
 - 2023-thesis.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- Simon-Kumar, R., Lewycka, S., Clark, T. C., Fleming, T., & Peiris-John, R. (2022). Flexible resources and experiences of racism among a multi-ethnic adolescent population in Aotearoa, New Zealand: An intersectional analysis of health and socioeconomic inequities using survey data. *The Lancet*, 400(10358), 1130–1143. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(22)01537-9

- Śliwerski, A., Kossakowska, K., Jarecka, K., Świtalska, J., & Bielawska-Batorowicz, E. (2020). The Effect of Maternal Depression on Infant Attachment: A Systematic Review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(8), Article 8. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17082675
- Smith, T. B., & Silva, L. (2011). Ethnic identity and personal well-being of people of color: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, *58*(1), 42–60. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0021528
- Snowshoe, A., Crooks, C. V., Tremblay, Paul. F., & Hinson, R. E. (2017). Cultural Connectedness and Its Relation to Mental Wellness for First Nations Youth. *The Journal of Primary Prevention*, *38*(1), 67–86. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10935-016-0454-3
- Sohn, S. Y., Rees, P., Wildridge, B., Kalk, N. J., & Carter, B. (2019). Prevalence of problematic smartphone usage and associated mental health outcomes amongst children and young people: A systematic review, meta-analysis and GRADE of the evidence. *BMC Psychiatry*, 19(1), 356. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-019-2350-x
- Solmi, M., Dragioti, E., Croatto, G., Radua, J., Borgwardt, S., Carvalho, A. F., Demurtas, J., Mosina, A., Kurotschka, P., Thompson, T., Cortese, S., Shin, J. I., & Fusar-Poli, P. (2021). Risk and Protective Factors for Personality Disorders: An Umbrella Review of Published Meta-Analyses of Case—Control and Cohort Studies. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2021.679379
- Solmi, M., Radua, J., Olivola, M., Croce, E., Soardo, L., G, S. de P., J, I. S., Jb, K., P, J., Jh, K., Jy, K., Af, C., Mv, S., Cu, C., & P, F.-P. (2022). Age at onset of mental disorders worldwide: Large-scale meta-analysis of 192 epidemiological studies. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 27(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-021-01161-7
- Solmi, M., Radua, J., Stubbs, B., Ricca, V., Moretti, D., Busatta, D., Carvalho, A. F., Dragioti, E., Favaro, A., Monteleone, A. M., Shin, J. I., Fusar-Poli, P., & Castellini, G. (2020). Risk factors for eating disorders: An umbrella review of published meta-analyses. *Brazilian Journal of Psychiatry*, *43*, 314–323. https://doi.org/10.1590/1516-4446-2020-1099
- Spijkers, F. E. (2011). *Mental Health Outcomes of Immigrant and Non-Immigrant Youth in New Zealand: Exploring the Immigrant Paradox* [Thesis, Te Herenga Waka—Victoria University of Wellington]. https://doi.org/10.26686/wgtn.16993495.v1
- Srivastava, R., & Srivastava, R. (2019). Impact of Cultural Identity on Mental Health in Post-secondary Students. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*, *17*(3), 520–530. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11469-018-0025-3
- Stats NZ. (2021). Disabled people still faring worse than non-disabled people. https://www.stats.govt.nz/news/disabled-people-still-faring-worse-than-non-disabled-people/
- Stats NZ. (2022a). People in New Zealand report strong sense of belonging to family. https://www.stats.govt.nz/news/people-in-new-zealand-report-strong-sense-of-belonging-to-family/
- Stats NZ. (2022b). *Wellbeing statistics: 2021*. Stats NZ. https://www.stats.govt.nz/information-releases/wellbeing-statistics-2021/#mental
- Stats NZ. (2022c). Wellbeing statistics: 2021 (supplementary). https://www.stats.govt.nz/information-releases/wellbeing-statistics-2021-supplementary/
- Stats NZ. (2024a). 2023 Census shows 1 in 20 adults belong to Aotearoa New Zealand's LGBTIQ+ population (corrected). https://www.stats.govt.nz/news/2023-census-shows-1-in-20-adults-belong-to-aotearoa-new-zealands-lgbtiq-population/
- Stats NZ. (2024b). Census results reflect Aotearoa New Zealand's diversity. https://www.stats.govt.nz/news/census-results-reflect-aotearoa-new-zealands-diversity/#:~:text=%E2%80%9CJust%20under%2030%20percent%20of,and%20statistics%20Rachael%20Milicich%20said.

- Stats NZ. (2024c). *Child poverty statistics: Year ended June 2023.* Stats NZ. https://www.stats.govt.nz/information-releases/child-poverty-statistics-year-ended-june-2023/
- Stats NZ. (2024d). *Two decades of youth employment and education*. https://www.stats.govt.nz/news/two-decades-of-youth-employment-and-education/
- Stevens, M. (2013). Rainbow Health: The Public Health Needs of LGBTTI Communities in Aotearoa New Zealand with Policy Recommendations. Affinity Services.
- Stuart, J., & Jose, P. E. (2014). The protective influence of family connectedness, ethnic identity, and ethnic engagement for New Zealand Maori adolescents. *Developmental Psychology*, *50*(6), 1817–1826. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0036386
- Stubbing, J., & Gibson, K. (2019). Young people's explanations for youth suicide in New Zealand: A thematic analysis. *Journal of Youth Studies*, *22*(4), 520–532. https://doi.org/10.1080/13676261.2018.1516862
- Stubbing, J., & Gibson, K. (2021). Can We Build 'Somewhere That You Want to Go'? Conducting Collaborative Mental Health Service Design with New Zealand's Young People. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *18*(19), Article 19. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18199983
- Stubbing, J., Rihari, T., Bardsley, A., & Gluckman, P. (2023). Exploring factors influencing youth mental health: What we know and don't know about the determinants of young people's mental health. Koi Tū: The Centre for Informed Futures. https://informedfutures.org/wp-content/uploads/pdf/Koi-Tu-Report-Exploring-factors-influencing-youth-mental-health.pdf
- Stubbing, J., Simon-Kumar, N., & Gluckman, P. (2023). A summary of literature reflecting the perspectives of young people in Aotearoa on systemic factors affecting their wellbeing. Te Hiringa Mahara and Koi Tū: The Centre for Informed Futures.
- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2023). *Mental Health and Substance Use Co-Occurring Disorders*. https://www.samhsa.gov/mental-health/what-is-mental-health/conditions/co-occurring-disorders#:~:text=This%20is%20because%3A,a%20form%20of%20self%2Dmedication
- Surkalim, D. L., Luo, M., Eres, R., Gebel, K., Buskirk, J. van, Bauman, A., & Ding, D. (2022). The prevalence of loneliness across 113 countries: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ*, *376*, e067068. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj-2021-067068
- Sutcliffe, K., Ball, J., Clark, T. C., Archer, D., Peiris-John, R., Crengle, S., & Fleming, T. (Theresa). (2023). Rapid and unequal decline in adolescent mental health and well-being 2012–2019: Findings from New Zealand cross-sectional surveys. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, *57*(2), 264–282. https://doi.org/10.1177/00048674221138503
- Sutcliffe, K., Wilson, M., Clark, T. C., Crengle, S., & Fleming, T. T. (2024). Distinct profiles of mental health need and high need overall among New Zealand adolescents—Cluster analysis of population survey data. *The Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, *58*(8), 678–692. https://doi.org/10.1177/00048674241243262
- Sweeney, S., & MacBeth, A. (2016). The effects of paternal depression on child and adolescent outcomes: A systematic review. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 205, 44–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2016.05.073
- Tait, J., Grant, M., Meissel, K., Bullen, P., Peterson, E., Fenaughty, J., Miller, S., & Paine, S.-J. (2023). *Now We Are 12: School Engagement of the Growing Up in New Zealand cohort. Snapshot 5.* Growing Up in New Zealand.
- Talamaivao, N., Harris, R., Cormack, D., Paine, S.-J., & King, P. (2020). Racism and health in Aotearoa New Zealand: A systematic review of quantitative studies. *The New Zealand Medical Journal*, 133(1521), 55–68.
- Tan, K. K. H., Treharne, G. J., Ellis, S. J., Schmidt, J. M., & Veale, J. F. (2021). Enacted stigma experiences and protective factors are strongly associated with mental health outcomes of transgender people in Aotearoa/New Zealand. *International Journal of*

- *Transgender Health*, 22(3), 269–280. https://doi.org/10.1080/15532739.2020.1819504
- Te Hiringa Mahara. (2022). Young people speak out about Wellbeing: An insights report into the Wellbeing of rangatahi Māori and other young people in Aotearoa. Te Hiringa Mahara.
- Te Maringi Mai o Hawaiiki, Le Grice, J., Hamley, L., Lindsay Latimer, C., Groot, S., Gillon, A., Greaves, L., & Clark, T. C. (2024). Rangatahi Māori and the whānau chocolate box: Rangatahi wellbeing in whānau contexts. *EXPLORE*, *20*(6), 103007. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.explore.2024.05.005
- Te Pou. (2023). Social determinants of mental health challenges and problematic substance use: Rapid review. https://www.tepou.co.nz/resources/social-determinants-of-mental-health-challenges-and-problematic-substance-use-rapid-review
- Teariki, M. A., & Leau, E. (2024). Understanding Pacific worldviews: Principles and connections for research. *Kōtuitui: New Zealand Journal of Social Sciences Online*, 19(2), 132–151. https://doi.org/10.1080/1177083X.2023.2292268
- Telfar, S., McLeod, G. F. H., Dhakal, B., Henderson, J., Tanveer, S., Broad, H. E. T., Woolhouse, W., Macfarlane, S., & Boden, J. M. (2023). Child abuse and neglect and mental health outcomes in adulthood by ethnicity: Findings from a 40-year longitudinal study in New Zealand/Aotearoa. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *145*, 106444. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2023.106444
- Thabrew, H., Stasiak, K., Hetrick, S. E., Wong, S., Huss, J. H., & Merry, S. N. (2018). E-Health interventions for anxiety and depression in children and adolescents with long-term physical conditions. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 8. https://www.cochranelibrary.com/cdsr/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD012489.pub2/full
- Tobias, M., Kokaua, J., Gerritsen, S., & Templeton, R. (2010). The health of children in sole-parent families in New Zealand: Results of a population-based cross-sectional survey. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, *34*(3), 274–280. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1753-6405.2010.00526.x
- Tran, H. G. N., Thai, T. T., Dang, N. T. T., Vo, D. K., & Duong, M. H. T. (2023). Cyber-Victimization and Its Effect on Depression in Adolescents: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 24*(2), 1124–1139. https://doi.org/10.1177/15248380211050597
- Treharne, G. J., Beres, M., Richardson, A., Ruzibiza, C., Graham, K., Briggs, H., & Ballantyne, N. (2016). *Campus climate for students with diverse sexual orientations and/or gender identities at the University of Otago, Aotearoa New Zealand*. Otago University Students' Association.
- Ttofi, M. M., Farrington, D. P., Lösel, F., Crago, R. V., & Theodorakis, N. (2016). School bullying and drug use later in life: A meta-analytic investigation. *School Psychology Quarterly: The Official Journal of the Division of School Psychology, American Psychological Association*, 31(1), 8–27. https://doi.org/10.1037/spq0000120
- UNICEF. (2021). The world's nearly 240 million children living with disabilities are being denied basic rights UNICEF. https://www.unicef.org/kosovoprogramme/press-releases/worlds-nearly-240-million-children-living-disabilities-are-being-denied-basic-rights
- Valentine, H., Tassell-Mataamua, N., & Flett, R. (2017). Whakairia ki runga: The many dimensions of wairua. *New Zealand Journal of Psychology*, *46*(3), 64–71.
- van Ours, J. C., Williams, J., Fergusson, D., & Horwood, L. J. (2013). Cannabis use and suicidal ideation. *Journal of Health Economics*, *32*(3), 524–537. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhealeco.2013.02.002
- Vargas, S. M., Huey Jr., S. J., & Miranda, J. (2020). A critical review of current evidence on multiple types of discrimination and mental health. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, *90*(3), 374–390. https://doi.org/10.1037/ort0000441
- Vashishtha, R., Pennay, A., Dietze, P., Marzan, M. B., Room, R., & Livingston, M. (2021). Trends in adolescent drinking across 39 high-income countries: Exploring the timing

- and magnitude of decline. *European Journal of Public Health*, 31(2), 424–431. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/ckaa193
- Vaughn, M. G., Salas-Wright, C. P., Kremer, K. P., Maynard, B. R., Roberts, G., & Vaughn, S. (2015). Are homeschooled adolescents less likely to use alcohol, tobacco, and other drugs? *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, *155*, 97–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2015.08.010
- Waitangi Tribunal. (2019). Hauora: Report on Stage One of the Health Services and Outcomes Kaupapa Inquiry. Waitangi Tribunal. https://forms.justice.govt.nz/search/Documents/WT/wt_DOC_152801817/Hauora%2 0W.pdf
- Walker, C., Fletcher, B., Cha, J., Waldie, K., Morton, S., Peterson, E., Bullen, P., Prickett, K., Meissel, K., Fenaughty, J., & Paine, S.-J. (2023). *Now We Are 12: Experiences of the COVID-19 pandemic and young people's wellbeing. Snapshot 6.* Growing Up in New Zealand.
- Walsh, M. C., Joyce, S., Maloney, T., Vaithianathan, R., & Centre for Social Data Analytics, Auckland University of Technolog. (2019). *Protective factors of children and families at highest risk of adverse childhood experiences: An analysis of children and families in the Growing up in New Zealand data who "beat the odds"*. Ministry of Social Development. https://www.msd.govt.nz
- Webber, A., & McGregor, A. (2019). *He Whakaaro: What do we know about discrimination in schools?* Ministry of Education. https://www.educationcounts.govt.nz/publications/schooling/he-whakaaro-what-dowe-know-about-discrimination-in-schools
- Wells, J. E., Horwood, L. J., & Fergusson, D. M. (2004). Drinking patterns in midadolescence and psychosocial outcomes in late adolescence and early adulthood. *Addiction*, *99*(12), 1529–1541. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2004.00918.x
- Whaikaha Ministry of Disabled People. (2024). Labour market statistics for disabled people—June 2024 quarter. https://www.whaikaha.govt.nz/news/news/labour-market-statistics-for-disabled-people-june-2024-quarter#:~:text=at%207.6%20percent-
- "Labour%20market%20summary,gap%20of%2039.4%20percentage%20points Whaikaha Ministry of Disabled People. (2024). 2024 Pūrongo ā-tau | Annual Report. Whaikaha Ministry of Disabled People.
- Whāraurau. (2022a). *DMC Deep and Meaningful Conversations: Youth-Informed Transformation 2022*. Whāraurau. https://www.wharaurau.org.nz/all-resources/dmc-deep-and-meaningful-conversations
- Whāraurau. (2022b). Youth leadership symposium: Mana rangatahi hui taumata. Whāraurau. https://cdn.prod.website-files.com/659c669f4c9edefe362ea9ff/66afe95a57f2cd3dbe7eaf6f_Youth%20Leaders hip%20Symposium%202022%20Declaration.pdf
- Whāraurau. (2023). *DMC Deep and Meaningful Conversations: 2023 report*. Whāraurau. https://www.wharaurau.org.nz/all-resources/dmc-deep-and-meaningful-conversations
- Whitaker, R. C., Dearth-Wesley, T., Herman, A. N., van Wingerden, A.-S. N., & Winn, D. W. (2022). Family Connection and Flourishing Among Adolescents in 26 Countries. *Pediatrics*, *149*(6), e2021055263. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2021-055263
- Wickramaratne, P. J., Yangchen, T., Lepow, L., Patra, B. G., Glicksburg, B., Talati, A., Adekkanattu, P., Ryu, E., Biernacka, J. M., Charney, A., Mann, J. J., Pathak, J., Olfson, M., & Weissman, M. M. (2022). Social connectedness as a determinant of mental health: A scoping review. *PLOS ONE*, *17*(10), e0275004. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0275004
- Wilkinson, C., Low, F., & Gluckman, P. (2021). Screen time: The effects on children's emotional, social, and cognitive development. Koi Tū: The Centre for Informed Futures.

- Williams, A. D., Clark, T. C., & Lewycka, S. (2018). The Associations Between Cultural Identity and Mental Health Outcomes for Indigenous Māori Youth in New Zealand. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 6, 319. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2018.00319
- Williams, A. J., Jones, C., Arcelus, J., Townsend, E., Lazaridou, A., & Michail, M. (2021). A systematic review and meta-analysis of victimisation and mental health prevalence among LGBTQ+ young people with experiences of self-harm and suicide. *PloS One*, *16*(1), e0245268. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0245268
- Wittlin, N. M., Kuper, L. E., & Olson, K. R. (2023). Mental Health of Transgender and Gender Diverse Youth. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, *19*(Volume 19, 2023), 207–232. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-072220-020326
- Wong, A., Peiris-John, R., Sobrun-Maharaj, A., & Ameratunga, S. (2015). Priorities and approaches to investigating Asian youth health: Perspectives of young Asian New Zealanders. *Journal of Primary Health Care*, 7(4), 282–290. https://doi.org/10.1071/hc15282
- World Health Organization. (2024). *Alcohol, e-cigarettes, cannabis: Concerning trends in adolescent substance use, shows new WHO/Europe report.*https://www.who.int/europe/news/item/25-04-2024-alcohol--e-cigarettes--cannabis--concerning-trends-in-adolescent-substance-use--shows-new-who-europe-report
- World Health Organization. (n.d.). *WHO Commission on Social Connection*. https://www.who.int/groups/commission-on-social-connection
- Yang, J., Fu, X., Liao, X., & Li, Y. (2020). Association of problematic smartphone use with poor sleep quality, depression, and anxiety: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Psychiatry Research*, *284*, 112686. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2019.112686
- Yap, M. B. H., Cheong, T. W. K., Zaravinos-Tsakos, F., Lubman, D. I., & Jorm, A. F. (2017). Modifiable parenting factors associated with adolescent alcohol misuse: A systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. *Addiction (Abingdon, England)*, 112(7), 1142–1162. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.13785
- Yap, M. B. H., & Jorm, A. F. (2015). Parental factors associated with childhood anxiety, depression, and internalizing problems: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 175, 424–440. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2015.01.050
- Yap, M. B. H., Pilkington, P. D., Ryan, S. M., & Jorm, A. F. (2014). Parental factors associated with depression and anxiety in young people: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *156*, 8–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2013.11.007
- Ye, Z., Wu, D., He, X., Ma, Q., Peng, J., Mao, G., Feng, L., & Tong, Y. (2023). Meta-analysis of the relationship between bullying and depressive symptoms in children and adolescents. *BMC Psychiatry*, *23*(1), 215. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-023-04681-4
- Yoon, E., Chang, C.-T., Kim, S., Clawson, A., Cleary, S. E., Hansen, M., Bruner, J. P., Chan, T. K., & Gomes, A. M. (2013). A meta-analysis of acculturation/enculturation and mental health. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, *60*(1), 15–30. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0030652
- Yoshikawa, H., Aber, J. L., & Beardslee, W. R. (2012). The effects of poverty on the mental, emotional, and behavioral health of children and youth: Implications for prevention. *American Psychologist*, *67*(4), 272–284. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0028015
- Youthline & Kantar Public. (2023). *State of the Generation, July 2023*. Youthline and Kantar Public. https://youthline.co.nz/wp-content/uploads/2024/04/state_of_the_generation_2023_-_media_copy.pdf
- Yuen, M., & Wu, L. (2024). Relationship between school connectedness and psychological well-being in adolescents: A meta-analysis. *Current Psychology*, *43*(12), 10590–10605. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-023-05164-1

Zapata, M. A., & Pearlstein, J. G. (2022). Disability self-worth relates to lower anxiety and depression in people with visual impairment. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, *78*(7), 1491–1499. https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.23308